

Pushed Out: Trends and Disparities in Out-of-School Suspension

Melanie Leung-Gagné, Jennifer McCombs, Caitlin Scott, and Daniel J. Losen



Pushed Out: Trends and Disparities in Out-of-School Suspension

Melanie Leung-Gagné, Jennifer McCombs, Caitlin Scott, and Daniel J. Losen

Acknowledgments

The authors thank Learning Policy Institute (LPI) interns and former colleagues Ayana Campoli, Iris Hinh, Desiree O'Neal, Alexa Sass, and Kayla Williamson for their research support. We also thank Linda Darling-Hammond, Michael DiNapoli, Stephen Kostyo, and Tiffany Miller for contributing their policy expertise and input to this report. In addition, we thank the members of the LPI Communications team for their invaluable support in editing, designing, and disseminating this report. Without their generosity of time and spirit, this work would not have been possible.

Core operating support for LPI is provided by the Heising-Simons Foundation, William and Flora Hewlett Foundation, Raikes Foundation, Sandler Foundation, and MacKenzie Scott. We are grateful to them for their generous support. The ideas voiced here are those of the authors and not those of our funders.

External Reviewers

This report benefited from the insights and expertise of two external reviewers: Rebecca Fitch, Former Project Manager for the Civil Rights Data Collection at the U.S. Department of Education, and Ajmel Quereshi, Senior Counsel at the NAACP Legal Defense and Educational Fund, Inc. We thank them for the care and attention they gave the report.

Suggested citation: Leung-Gagné, M., McCombs, J., Scott, C., & Losen, D. J. (2022). *Pushed out: Trends and disparities in out-of-school suspension*. Learning Policy Institute. https://doi.org/10.54300/235.277

This report can be found online at https://learningpolicyinstitute.org/product/crdc-school-suspension.

This work is licensed under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International License. To view a copy of this license, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/.



Document last revised October 10, 2023

Table of Contents

Executive Summaryv
Introduction1
About This Report2
National Trends in Out-of-School Suspension4
Trends in Suspension Rates Over Time4
Racial Disparities in Suspension Rates by School Level and Disability Status Over Time5
State-Level Trends in Out-of-School Suspension for Secondary Students
Out-of-School Suspensions in the 2017-18 School Year10
Changes in Suspension Rates From 2011-12 to 2017-1810
Changes in Racial Suspension Gaps in Secondary Schools From 2011-12 to 2017-18 14
Changes in Suspension Gaps Between Students With and Without Disabilities in
Secondary Schools From 2011-12 to 2017-1818
What Influences the Use of Suspensions in Schools?
Discipline Policies
School Factors Influencing Use of Suspension25
Policy Implications
Conclusion
Appendix A: Methodology
Appendix B: State-by-State Analysis
Endnotes
About the Authors

List of Figures and Tables

Figure 1	Trends in Out-of-School Suspension Rates in K–12 Schools, by Race and Ethnicity, 1973–2018	5
Figure 2	Trends in Out-of-School Suspension Rates, by Race and Ethnicity and School Level, 1973, 2011–12 to 2017–18	6
Figure 3	Trends in Out-of-School Suspension Rates of K-12 Students by Race and Ethnicity and Disability Status, 2011-12 to 2017-18	8
Figure 4	States With the Highest and Lowest Out-of-School Suspension Rates in Secondary Schools, 2017–18	11
Table 1	States With the Largest Decreases in Out-of-School Suspension Rates in Secondary Schools, 2011–12 to 2017–18	12
Table 2	States With the Largest Decreases in Black–White Suspension Gaps in Secondary Schools, 2011–12 to 2017–18	15

Table 3	States With the Largest Decreases in Native American–White Suspension Gaps in Secondary Schools, 2011–12 to 2017–18	17
Table 4	States With the Largest Decreases in Latino/a-White Suspension Gaps in Secondary Schools, 2011-12 to 2017-18	18
	States With the Largest Decreases in Suspension Gaps Between Students With and Without Disabilities in Secondary Schools, 2011–12 to 2017–18	19

Executive Summary

Exclusionary discipline, which involves removing students from the classroom through punishments such as suspensions and expulsions, deprives students of the opportunity to learn. This type of discipline dramatically increased in the United States over several decades as a result of zero-tolerance policies that were often applied to relatively minor, nonviolent misbehavior such as tardiness or "disrespect." Such exclusionary punishments have deleterious consequences and disproportionately impact students of color and students with disabilities.

While suspension is intended to produce safer schools and deter future misbehavior, research shows that exclusionary discipline is ineffective at improving school safety and deterring infractions. This is not surprising, as suspensions do not address any of the underlying reasons that may be leading to behavioral incidents, nor do they create opportunities for students to learn new approaches to communicating or resolving conflicts.

In addition, suspensions may have a long-lasting negative impact on students who are suspended or expelled. Compared to similar students who were not removed from classrooms, suspended students are more likely to suffer academically, repeat a grade, and drop out of school. Suspended students are also less likely to graduate from high school and college and are more likely to be involved in the criminal justice system. In addition, a school climate centered on control and punishment negatively affects students who are not suspended. Studies have found that nonsuspended students in schools with harsh exclusionary discipline policies have lower test scores compared to students in lower-suspending schools.

Across time, the risk of suspension has been disproportionate across student groups, contributing to inequity in educational outcomes. Decades of data have shown that certain groups of students are disproportionately suspended, including students of color (except Asian), students receiving special education services, students from low-income families, LGBTQ students, and males. Differences in behavior do not account for the large racial disparities in suspension rates. Prior research has identified a number of school and systemic factors associated with the disproportionate suspension of certain students, including educator implicit bias, insufficient educator preparation, poor educator working conditions, ineffective school leadership, harsh discipline policies, and inequitable resource allocation.

During the 1990s and early 2000s, federal and state policies encouraged the implementation of zero-tolerance policies across the country, which helped fuel an overall increase in the use of suspension and expanded racial disparities in suspension. Recent changes in policy and practice have begun to shift educators away from exclusionary discipline, and we review those changes and trends in this report. We examine out-of-school suspension data from the Civil Rights Data Collection (CRDC), tracking trends over time. We also assess differences in suspension rates of students based on their race and ethnicity, school level, and disability status. We present data at national and state levels, and because out-of-school suspensions are concentrated in secondary schools, we focus our state-level findings on secondary school students. We explore the ways in which changes in suspension rates may be related to changes in policy, and we make recommendations for additional strategies to reduce school exclusion for all students, and in particular for those who have disproportionately experienced its negative effects.

v

The findings from this report are mainly based on analyses of the 2011–12, 2013–14, 2015–16, and 2017–18 Civil Rights Data Collection. In looking at national trends in suspension rates, we also included data points from earlier years, which we drew from other research and estimates published by the Office for Civil Rights.

National-Level Findings

- Overall suspension rates have increased from 1973, reaching a peak in the early 2010s. Since then, suspension rates have generally decreased. In 1973, the overall suspension rate was 4%. By the 2009–10 school year, suspensions had increased to 7%, with particularly sharp increases from the mid-1980s through the 1990s. Since then, suspension rates have decreased, reaching 5% in 2017–18. This decrease coincided with efforts of the Obama administration to reduce exclusionary discipline and its disparate impacts, including issuing a guidance package to support states, districts, and schools in their efforts to move away from punitive discipline policies and toward research-based, restorative practices. However, the suspension rate in 2017–18 was still higher than the rates of suspensions observed in the 1970s and early 1980s.
- Educators suspended secondary school students at much higher rates than elementary school students. In 2017–18, nearly 1 in 14 secondary school students (7%) were suspended—more than three times the rate of elementary school students (2%). In addition, while the overall suspension rate decreased from the early 2010s to 2017–18, the drop was concentrated in secondary schools; decreases at the elementary level were smaller and less consistent.
- Racial disparities in suspension have persisted across the years. Educators consistently exclude Black students from school at the highest rate, with more than 1 in 8 Black students (12%) receiving one or more out-of-school suspensions in 2017–18. In that year, educators also suspended Native American students at rates higher than the national average (7% vs. 5%). Black and Native American students have historically been disproportionately suspended in both elementary and secondary schools. While the suspension rates of Latino/a, Pacific Islander, and white students were quite similar across the years in elementary schools, disparities emerge among these racial groups at the secondary school level, where educators suspended Latino/a and Pacific Islander students at higher rates than white students.
- Educators continue to suspend students with disabilities at much higher rates than their nondisabled peers. In 2017–18, almost 1 out of 11 students with disabilities (9%) were suspended, compared to 4% for students without disabilities. Black students with disabilities consistently have the highest risk of suspension, with almost 1 in 5 (19%) receiving a suspension in 2017–18.
- School level, gender, race, and disability status together can substantially impact a student's risk of suspension. For example, in 2017–18, 1 in 1,000 Asian girls not receiving special education services in elementary schools were suspended (0.1%). However, during that same school year, more than 1 in 4 Black boys with disabilities (27%) in secondary schools were suspended.

State-Level Findings

- Secondary school suspension rates varied greatly across the country. In Mississippi, South Carolina, and Washington, DC, 15% of students received at least one out-of-school suspension in 2017–18, triple the rate at which students in California, Connecticut, and Massachusetts were suspended (5%) and more than five times the rate of suspension in Utah (3%). Such variations may be due to differences in state, local, and school discipline policies; educator quality; and efforts to reduce racial disparities in suspensions.
- Secondary school educators' use of out-of-school suspension decreased in 48 states and in Washington, DC, between 2011–12 and 2017–18. Such reductions coincided with policy changes at the federal, state, and local levels to replace exclusionary discipline with supportive practices that are associated with decreases in suspension rates and suspension gaps. States with the largest reductions include California and Illinois, which have undertaken a set of policy reforms to limit suspensions. Although these reductions are promising, in five states the decline in out-of-school suspensions came with an even larger increase in in-school suspensions, suggesting that in these states students continued to be excluded from learning opportunities even though they remained in school.
- Most states reduced racial disparities in secondary school suspensions between 2011–12 and 2017–18. The Black–white suspension gap decreased among secondary students in 45 states and Washington, DC, the Latino/a–white gap decreased in 47 states and Washington, DC, and the Native American–white gap decreased in 45 states. However, the suspension rates of Black students and the Black–white gap remain high in many states, and the Black–white gap increased in five states: Kansas, Mississippi, Nevada, North Dakota, and South Carolina.
- Between 2011–12 and 2017–18, most states narrowed the suspension gap between secondary school students with and without disabilities. The disabled–nondisabled suspension gap was reduced in 46 states and Washington, DC. However, even though many states have made progress in reducing suspension gaps, students with disabilities continue to be suspended at extremely high rates. For example, about 1 in 4 students with disabilities were suspended in Delaware (25%), Louisiana (25%), South Carolina (25%), and Washington, DC (24%), in 2017-18.

Policy Implications

Efforts to improve approaches to school discipline must be part of a comprehensive approach to address inequities in educational opportunity. Following are six key policy strategies for reducing suspension gaps and exclusionary discipline practices overall at the state and local levels:

1. Eliminate zero-tolerance and other exclusionary discipline policies, restrict the use of out-of-school suspensions and expulsions for lower-level offenses, and reduce the length of suspensions for moderate and serious offenses. States and local education agencies can end zero-tolerance and other harsh policies to provide flexibility for educators to consider the severity and situational context when a student violates school rules. State and local policymakers can also bar disorderly conduct and other nonviolent and

non-drug-related behavior from being reported to the criminal justice system. States and districts can also prohibit exclusionary actions for students who commit nonviolent infractions, and they can place limits on the length of suspension.

- 2. Support evidence-based alternative strategies to exclusionary discipline, such as implementing schoolwide restorative practices and teaching social and emotional skills. Restorative practices are a proactive, relationship-centered approach to building a positive school climate and addressing student behavior. Such practices are integrated with social and emotional learning, as students are encouraged to acknowledge and manage their emotions, develop empathy for others, and establish positive relationships. Research has found that restorative practices are effective in reducing suspensions and improving school climate. States and districts can provide resources to support schools' implementation of restorative practices and teaching of social and emotional skills, including training and coaching school community members, hiring full-time restorative justice coordinators, and reducing class sizes to facilitate closer teacher–student relationships. States and districts can leverage the Every Student Succeeds Act (ESSA) Title IV, Part A—the Student Support and Academic Enrichment Grant Program—to fund restorative initiatives.
- 3. Collect and report disaggregated data on exclusionary discipline in a timely manner and use the data to inform equity reviews of district and school discipline policies. States and districts should support schools to accurately report their use of exclusionary discipline, disaggregated by student characteristics. States should also follow the example of California, Rhode Island, and West Virginia to include school discipline in their accountability systems. In addition, states and districts should collect, disaggregate, and publicly report data on the amount of lost instruction due to exclusionary discipline on an annual basis. These data, which schools are already reporting to the federal government biannually, can help identify districts and schools that need extra support to transition to more equitable and restorative discipline practices. For example, the Massachusetts Department of Elementary and Secondary Education conducts investigations into schools with high suspension rates and large disparities in suspension and provides technical assistance to these schools to improve their school climate. Legislation in Indiana requires the state education agency to survey school discipline policies and determine the extent to which positive discipline and restorative justice practices are used. The Indiana Department of Education works to ensure that educators have access to the support and training they need to implement restorative practices.
- 4. Develop educator preparation standards for supporting positive climates and using restorative practices to manage classrooms. Many teachers and principals are unprepared to use positive discipline practices that can reduce reliance on exclusionary discipline. States can include competencies in building strong relationships, creating supportive classroom climates, and using restorative practices in their standards for approving educator preparation programs and teacher licenses. For example, the California Commission on Teacher Credentialing passed new standards for teachers and administrators, requiring educators to know how to teach social and emotional skills and use restorative practices to manage classrooms.

- 5. Provide professional learning to help educators create inclusive and culturally responsive learning environments and foster trusting relationships with students. States and districts can provide resources to enable educators to create positive learning environments. This can include professional development focused on mitigating implicit biases, developing empathy for students, creating multi-tiered systems of support, advancing restorative practices, providing support for students with disabilities, and transforming the school culture to one that values students from diverse backgrounds. In addition to state funds, states can use up to 5% of their state set-asides for statewide activities under ESSA Title II, Part A, for related teacher professional development.
- 6. Invest in support services and support staff to better meet the needs of students and educators. Research shows that access to high-quality and adequate support services is associated with fewer incidences of student behavior issues and lower rates of suspensions. States and districts can allocate resources to provide wraparound supports for high-need students and their families and hire more social workers, counselors, and school psychologists. Hiring a sufficient amount of support staff, such as restorative justice coaches, can also increase the school's capacity to implement restorative practices. These supports also help ease the workload of teachers and administrators, increasing their bandwidth to respond to students' social and emotional needs without resorting to exclusionary discipline. States and districts can use funds from the Coronavirus Response and Relief Supplemental Appropriations Act and the American Rescue Plan Act to provide increased support services to students.

To support these state and local efforts, policymakers at the federal level can:

- 1. Update and reissue the 2014 "Non-Discriminatory Administration of School Discipline" guidance. Many students of color, particularly Black and Native American students, continue to be disproportionately suspended. Although progress was made under the 2014 guidance in limiting exclusionary disciplinary practices and reducing racial disparities in discipline, implementing restorative practices, and protecting civil rights, the guidance was revoked in 2018. The guidance should be reissued and updated regularly to align with research on effective and non-discriminatory practices. The updated guidance should include additional information on resources to increase access to mental health services and supports, particularly for student of color; best practices for building positive school climates through restorative practices; and suggestions for revising codes of conduct to reduce the use of exclusionary discipline for ambiguous infractions, such as "willful defiance." The guidance should also clarify the Department of Education Office for Civil Rights statutory oversight and enforcement role to investigate claims of discriminatory school discipline practices.
- 2. Support the dissemination and use of newly released Department of Education resources aimed at reducing exclusionary discipline for students with disabilities. Despite some progress over time, students with disabilities continue to be disproportionately suspended. In July 2022, the Department of Education released guidance on the legal requirements for disciplining students with disabilities under the Individuals With Disabilities Act and supportive materials to help educators meet the needs of students

ix

with disabilities. Federal policymakers can dedicate resources to promote this guidance and support states, districts, and schools in implementing changes to their current discipline practices.

- 3. Offer technical assistance and increase oversight and accountability to ensure that states and districts accurately report data on their use of exclusionary discipline and referrals to law enforcement. To better understand the use of suspension in schools, the Office for Civil Rights also should require schools to report the total number of suspensions a school issued, in addition to the number of students who were suspended and the total days students missed due to suspensions. This would enable government departments, researchers, and advocates to identify states, districts, and schools with high suspension rates, high magnitudes of lost instruction, and large disparities in suspension rates and to intervene as appropriate.
- 4. Provide additional funding for professional learning that helps educators create inclusive and culturally responsive learning environments and adopt restorative discipline practices. The federal government can support professional learning opportunities that help educators create positive learning environments by increasing funding through ESSA Title II, Part A. Additional resources could be targeted toward professional development activities focused on areas that can reduce the use of exclusionary discipline, such as restorative practices, supporting students of color and students with disabilities, developing empathy for students, and employing asset-based approaches that help students build social and emotional skills.

х

Introduction

The interrupted learning caused by the COVID-19 pandemic has made clear that students' wellbeing and achievement decline when they miss out on school time.¹ However, regularly losing out on learning is not new for millions of students. Educators' widespread use of exclusionary discipline deprived many students of the opportunity to learn for decades prior to the pandemic. In the 2017–18 school year, more than 2.5 million students attending U.S. public schools received one or more out-of-school suspensions. These students missed a total of 11.2 million school days, with each student missing 4.5 school days, on average.² Not only do suspended students lose learning time, but they also lose access to essential noninstructional services provided by schools, such as occupational and physical therapy, mental health services, and meals.³ Disturbingly, historically underserved students are suspended at much higher rates than their peers.⁴

Suspension results from adult interpretation of student behavior and decisions on how to react. For instance, teachers make decisions about what behavior is considered disruptive and whether to ignore the behavior, redirect a student inside the classroom, or refer a student to a school administrator. School administrators decide whether to refer a student to a counselor, provide the student with guidance, exclude the student from a classroom, or counsel the teacher on how to better respond to situations. What is considered a violation and who receives support, a warning, detention, suspension, or an expulsion is a function of student, school, and system factors.⁵ Reasons students are suspended include a wide range of perceived violations, including tardiness, defiance, dress code violations, physical fighting, and possessing dangerous objects.

Evidence shows that although educators suspend students with the intent to keep schools safer, improve school climate for learning, and promote positive behavior, exclusionary punishment is ineffective for achieving these goals. In schools with higher suspension rates, both students and teachers tend to perceive school safety to be worse, after controlling for various school and student characteristics.⁶ Schools that suspended students more frequently also showed the largest decrease in climate measures such as school connectedness and opportunities for meaningful participation.⁷

In fact, some studies suggest that the use of exclusionary discipline can create emotional disengagement and erode the level of trust students feel toward school officials.⁸ Research finds that harsher use of exclusionary discipline is associated with more frequent behavioral write-ups.⁹ It is unclear whether that increase in suspension is a function of increased behavioral incidents from the students, educators' bias in interpreting students' behavior, or both. Nonetheless, it leads to continued exclusion of students from the classroom.

Schools that suspended students more frequently also showed the largest decrease in climate measures such as school connectedness and opportunities for meaningful participation.

Students who have been suspended are more likely to have lower academic achievement and repeat a grade, compared to peers who were not suspended.¹⁰ One study looking at 3 years of administrative data on a million students in Texas found that 60% of middle and high school students had been suspended or expelled at least once. Among students who had relatively minor violations (e.g., tardiness or insubordination), those who were suspended or expelled for those

violations were twice as likely to repeat a grade, compared to students with similar characteristics who were not suspended for those violations.¹¹ In addition, students who have been suspended are more likely to drop out¹² and are less likely to earn a high school or college degree.¹³ A study that followed 10th-grade students in California for 3 years found that, after controlling for other major dropout factors, suspensions in California lowered graduation rates by nearly 7 percentage points.¹⁴

Suspension may also have a negative academic impact on students not receiving suspensions. One study found a relationship between harsher exclusionary punishments and lower test scores among peers of suspended students.¹⁵

In addition to exclusionary discipline harming academic achievement and attainment, scholars have linked it to the school-to-prison pipeline,¹⁶ as students who received suspension are more likely to eventually be involved in the criminal justice system than their peers.¹⁷ Young adults with a history of school suspension are also less likely to vote and less likely to participate in civic activities.¹⁸ Ultimately, exclusionary discipline measures are associated with significant social costs in the form of lost wages, lost tax revenue, and higher welfare and medical costs.¹⁹

The rate of suspensions increased substantially between 1970 and 2010 before beginning to decline in recent years. With rates increasing much more for some groups than others, discipline gaps grew wider and wider, contributing to inequities in both educational opportunity and outcomes. Decades of data have shown that certain groups of students are disproportionately suspended, including students of color (except Asian students), students receiving special education services, students from low-income families, LGBTQ students, and males.²⁰ There is also disparity in the length of suspensions issued. Data from the New York City public school system showed that Black students received longer suspensions than students from other racial and ethnic groups for 8 of the 10 most common infractions and were suspended for roughly twice the number of days for bullying, reckless behavior, and altercation, compared to Asian students.²¹ Research has found that racial disparities in suspensions are most strongly associated with differential treatment of students rather than differences in student behavior, with the former accounting for 46% of the Black–white suspension gap and the latter accounting for 9%.²²

About This Report

This report examines out-of-school suspension data from the Civil Rights Data Collection (CRDC), tracking trends over time and differences in suspension rates of students based on their race and ethnicity, school level, and disability status. We present data at national and state levels, and because out-of-school suspensions are concentrated in secondary schools, we focus our state-level findings on secondary school students. We also describe the factors research has found associated with the use of suspension.

To examine suspension over time, we analyze CRDC suspension data from the 2011–12 school year (the earliest year during which the data was collected from all public schools) through 2017–18 (the most recent year of CRDC data). In looking at national trends in suspension rates, we also included data points from earlier years, which we drew from other research and estimates published by the Department of Education Office for Civil Rights (OCR). While this report focuses on the national and state levels, we note that there is substantial variation in suspensions within states. Within a state, there are districts that suspend at far higher and lower rates than the state average and schools within districts that suspend at higher and lower rates than the district average.²³

The report expands on work the Learning Policy Institute (LPI) previously supported documenting the prevalence and impact of exclusionary discipline.²⁴ This report also builds on LPI's prior work, *Protecting Students' Civil Rights: The Federal Role in School Discipline*, which details effective school discipline policies and practices designed to end discrimination. In addition, this report is part of LPI's *Inequitable Opportunity to Learn* series, which uses the CRDC data to understand the extent to which historically underserved students experience inequities in their opportunities to learn—including who teaches them, what they are taught, and how they are treated.

Reflection on the use of out-of-school suspension is particularly salient while educators work to help students recover from lost instructional opportunities and trauma experienced during the first years of the pandemic.²⁵ Given that pre-COVID-19 suspension rates were excessive and disproportionate in many schools, continuing to suspend students with the same frequency as before will likely exacerbate the emotional and academic toll. Disturbingly, recent news articles report that several school districts are showing that suspensions and expulsions are reaching or exceeding pre-pandemic levels.²⁶

The report describes suspension rates and gaps at the national level and state levels. It then describes factors that influence the use of suspensions and disparities in suspension rates and concludes with recommendations for policymakers.

Definitions for This Report

Out-of-school suspension – Refers to when a student is temporarily removed from their regular school for at least half a day for disciplinary purposes to another setting, such as their home or a behavior center. Removals are counted as an instance of out-of-school suspension regardless of whether educational services are provided. For simplicity, we use "out-of-school suspensions" and "suspensions" interchangeably in this report.

Suspension rate – The percentage of students, based on the student group population, who received at least one out-of-school suspension. It does not represent the number of suspensions overall. A student who is suspended multiple times is only counted once when calculating this rate.

Suspension gap – The difference in suspension rates between two groups. We discuss suspension gaps in two ways: in absolute percentage differences between the two groups (e.g., 5 percentage point gap) and the relative magnitude of one group's rate versus another (e.g., four times as likely to be suspended).

Secondary schools – Schools with any combination of grades 6-12 and without any lower grades.

Elementary schools – Schools with any combination of grades k–5 and without any grades above 7th grade.

K-12 schools – All elementary and secondary schools, and k-8 and k-12 schools.

Students with disabilities – Includes students with an Individualized Education Program (IEP) as required by the Individuals With Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) but does not include students receiving aids and services under Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973.

Racial and ethnic groups – Different from the CRDC survey, this report uses "Latino/a" instead of "Hispanic or Latino of any race"; "Native American" instead of "American Indian or Alaska Native"; "Pacific Islander" instead of "Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific Islander"; and "Black" instead of "Black or African American."

National Trends in Out-of-School Suspension

In this section, we examine how suspension rates have changed over time, and we look at changes in racial gaps by school level and disability status. We find that national suspension rates increased from the 1970s to the early 2010s and then declined until 2017–18, the most recent data available. Despite the decline, substantial disparities in suspension rates remain. The suspension rates in this report are calculated using the unique count of students who were suspended and do not reflect the frequency or length of suspensions. It is important to note that many students are repeatedly suspended; of the 2.5 million students who received an out-of-school suspension in 2017–18, more than one third (37%) were suspended twice or more.²⁷

Trends in Suspension Rates Over Time

To understand how out-of-school suspension rates have changed for different groups of students, we examined suspension data for select years from the 1973 CRDC survey²⁸ to the most recent 2017–18 survey, disaggregated by race and ethnicity, disability status, and school level.

Figure 1 shows that from 1973 to the early 2010s, suspension rates increased for all student groups. The overall suspension rate increased from 4% in 1973 to 7% in the 2009–10 school year. Suspension of white and Asian students peaked around 1998, while suspension rates of other

students continued to increase. Black and Native American students experienced the largest and most sustained increases in suspension among all groups, reaching a peak of 16% in the 2009–10 school year for Black students and 9% in 2011–12 for Native American students. Accordingly, racial disparities in suspension widened during this period. In 1973, the out-of-school suspension rate was 6% for Black students and about 3% for white students. By 2010, the 3 percentage point suspension gap had quadrupled to 12 percentage points (16% vs. 4%).

Black and Native American students experienced the largest and most sustained increases in suspension among all groups, reaching a peak of 16% in the 2009–10 school year for Black students and 9% in 2011–12 for Native American students.

Suspension rates for all students declined steadily from the early 2010s to 2017–18 but remained higher than what was observed in the 1970s and early 1980s. The overall suspension rate fell from 7% in 2009–10 to 5% in 2017–18. To see if the reduction in out-of-school suspensions signaled a genuine decrease in the use of exclusionary discipline overall or merely a switch from one form of exclusionary measure to another, we examined changes in the rates of in-school suspension from 2011–12 to 2017–18.²⁹ We found that the trend of in-school suspensions over the 6-year period mirrored the decrease in out-of-school suspensions, dropping from 7% to 5% over the 6-year period, signaling an overall reduction in the use of exclusionary discipline.

Figure 1 Trends in Out-of-School Suspension Rates in K–12 Schools, by Race and Ethnicity, 1973–2018



Notes: The years in the graph represent the spring of the school year the data was collected. To reduce cluttering, data labels for overall suspension rates were not included in the graph. The suspension rate for Native American students in the 2009–10 school year is not included due to data irregularities. We combined Asian and Pacific Islander students into one group for comparability with earlier data, which reported the two groups as one.

Sources: U.S. Department of Education Office for Civil Rights, Civil Rights Data Collection, 2011–12, 2013–14, 2015–16, and 2017–18; U.S. Department of Education Office for Civil Rights, Civil Rights Data Collection. State and national estimations, 2000, 2004, 2006, and 2010; Losen, D. J., & Martinez, P. (2020). Lost opportunities: How disparate school discipline continues to drive differences in the opportunity to learn. Learning Policy Institute; Center for Civil Rights Remedies at the Civil Rights Project, UCLA; Verdugo, R. R. (2002). Race-ethnicity, social class, and zero-tolerance policies: The cultural and structural wars. Education and Urban Society, 35(1), 50–55; Losen, D. J., & Gillespie, J. (2012). Opportunities suspended: The disparate impact of disciplinary exclusion from school. Center for Civil Rights Remedies at the Civil Rights Project, UCLA.

While suspension rates for every racial group have decreased, disparities have persisted. Black students continue to be excluded from school at the highest rate, with more than 1 in 8 Black students (12%) receiving one or more out-of-school suspensions in 2017–18. This was 9 percentage points higher than the rate at which white students were suspended (3%) and nearly 11 percentage points higher than the suspension rate of Asian students (1.3%). Native American students had the second-highest suspension rate at 7%.

Racial Disparities in Suspension Rates by School Level and Disability Status Over Time

Students have intersecting identities that simultaneously influence their experiences in U.S. schools.³⁰ In the case of suspensions, we found that school level, race and ethnicity, and disability status together can substantially impact a student's risk of suspension.³¹ For example, in 2017–18, 1 in 1,000 Asian girls not receiving special education services in elementary schools were suspended (0.1%). However, during that same school year, more than 1 in 4 Black boys

with disabilities (27%) in secondary schools were removed from classrooms and deprived of the opportunity to learn. Below, we explore these intersectional risks and whether they have changed over time.

Suspension rates by school level and race. As shown in Figure 2, the rate of suspension is higher in secondary school than in elementary school. In 2017–18, nearly 1 in 14 secondary school students (7%) were suspended, more than three times the rate of elementary school students (2%). In addition, while the suspension rates generally decreased from the early 2010s to 2017–18, the drop was concentrated in secondary schools; decreases at the elementary level were smaller and less consistent.

Substantial racial disparities persisted at both the elementary and secondary school levels over time. Black and Native American students have been disproportionately suspended in both elementary and secondary schools at least since the 2011–12 school year, the earliest year during which the CRDC data was collected from all public schools. In fact, in each year of data we analyzed, Black elementary students were more likely to be suspended than white secondary students.

Figure 2 Trends in Out-of-School Suspension Rates, by Race and Ethnicity and School Level, 1973, 2011–12 to 2017–18



Notes: The years in the graph represent the spring of the school year the data was collected. To reduce cluttering, data labels for overall suspension rates were not included in the graph. During the 2017–18 school year, the overall suspension rate was 6.9% for secondary school students and 2.2% for elementary school students.

Sources: U.S. Department of Education Office for Civil Rights, Civil Rights Data Collection, 2011–12, 2013–14, 2015–16, 2017–18; Losen, D. J., & Martinez, P. (2020). Lost opportunities: How disparate school discipline continues to drive differences in the opportunity to learn. Learning Policy Institute; Center for Civil Rights Remedies at the Civil Rights Project, UCLA.

Suspension gaps, as measured by percentage point difference in suspension rates, are larger in secondary schools than elementary schools. While the suspension rates of Latino/a, Pacific Islander, and white students were quite similar across the years in elementary schools, disparities emerge between these racial groups at the secondary school level, where Latino/a and Pacific Islander students were suspended at higher rates than white students. In addition, in 2017–18, the Black–white elementary suspension gap was 5 percentage points (7% vs. 2%), compared to a 12 percentage point difference between Black and white secondary students (17% vs. 5%).

Over time, the racial gaps in suspension rates have slightly reduced. Between 2011–12 and 2017–18, the Black–white gap among secondary students dropped from 15 percentage points to 12 percentage points, and the Latino/a–white gap in secondary schools dropped from almost 4 percentage points to just 1 percentage point. The suspension gap between Pacific Islander and white secondary school students was more variable, increasing from 2 percentage points in 2011–12 (9% vs. 7%) to 4 percentage points in 2014 and 2016, and then narrowing slightly to 3 percentage points in the 2017–18 school year (8% vs. 5%).

Racial disparities in suspension rates by disability status. Disability status is another factor associated with suspension rates; students with disabilities are much more likely than those without to be suspended. In 2017–18, almost 1 out of 11 students with disabilities (9%) were suspended, compared to 4% for students without disabilities. Suspensions may be particularly deleterious for students with disabilities because they rely on support services obtained through the school, such as academic supports, mental health services, speech therapy, and physical therapy. Indeed, lengthy out-of-school suspensions of students with disabilities can amount to a violation of federal law.

In 2017–18, almost 1 out of 11 students with disabilities (9%) were suspended, compared to 4% for students without disabilities. Suspensions may be particularly deleterious for students with disabilities because they rely on support services obtained through the school.

Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 protects all students with disabilities from discrimination. This protection includes ensuring they are not denied education because of behaviors caused by their disability.³² In addition, the Individuals With Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) of 2004 requires educators to consider positive behavioral interventions and supports when the behavior of a student with a disability impedes their own or others' learning.³³ Since students with disabilities are suspended at much higher rates than students without disabilities, it is possible that educators may have been removing them from classrooms instead of providing sufficient behavioral supports and maintaining their right to a free appropriate public education.

In disaggregating suspension rates by students' race and ethnicity and disability status, we found that the suspension rates of students with disabilities dropped at a greater rate from 2011–12 to 2017–18 compared to other students. This is the case for students with disabilities in all racial and ethnic groups, as shown by the steeper slopes of the downward trend lines for students with disabilities in Figure 3. However, we also found that racial gaps were present among students both with and without disabilities, particularly for Black and Native American students, who tend to be suspended at higher rates compared to their white and Asian peers.

Figure 3 Trends in Out-of-School Suspension Rates of K–12 Students by Race and Ethnicity and Disability Status, 2011–12 to 2017–18



Notes: The years in the graph represent the spring of the school year the data was collected. To reduce cluttering, data labels for overall suspension rates were not included in the graph. During the 2017–18 school year, the overall suspension rate was 9.2% for students with disabilities and 4.0% for students without disabilities. Source: U.S. Department of Education Office for Civil Rights, Civil Rights Data Collection, 2011–12, 2013–14, 2015–16, 2017–18.

Figure 3 shows that Black students consistently have the highest risk of suspension, regardless of disability status. In the 2011–12 school year, more than 1 in 5 Black students (23%) with disabilities received one or more out-of-school suspensions and 1 out of every 7 Black students without disabilities were suspended (14%). Six years later, these high rates of suspension decreased, though they remained high. In 2017–18, nearly 1 in 5 Black students with disabilities (19%) were suspended and more than 1 in 10 Black students without disabilities (11%) were suspended.

The suspension gap between Black students and their peers in other racial and ethnic groups, regardless of their disability status, also saw little progress over the 6 years of data we analyzed. For example, in 2011–12, Black students with disabilities were suspended at 2.5 times the rate of white students with disabilities (23% vs. 10%), a 13 percentage point difference. By 2017–18, this disparity had only decreased slightly to 11 percentage points (19% vs. 7%) and Black students with disabilities were still suspended at 2.5 times the rate as their white counterparts. Similarly, the Black–white suspension gap for students without disabilities only saw a 2 percentage point decrease from 2011–12 (14% of Black students suspended vs. 4% of white students) to 2017–18 (11% vs. 3%), and Black students without disabilities remained about four times as likely as white students without disabilities to be suspended.

While suspension rates for Native American students were lower than for Black students, they were still removed from classrooms more frequently than their Pacific Islander, white, Latino/a, and Asian counterparts regardless of disability status. In 2011–12, more than 1 in 6 Native American students with disabilities (17%) were suspended, three times the rate of Asian students with disabilities (6%), an 11 percentage point difference. By 2017–18, the suspension rate of Native American students with disabilities had dropped to 10%, which was close to the national average suspension rate of 9%, but disparities remain—that same year, 2% of Asian students with disabilities were suspended, a quarter of the rate of Native American students.

We have shown that Black and Native American students, secondary school students, and students with disabilities are at high risk of being suspended, and that large disparities in suspension rates have persisted over time. However, exclusionary discipline is amenable to policy intervention, and recent data show that several states have reduced their suspension rates and suspension gaps. In the next part of this report, we discuss state-level changes in suspensions.

State-Level Trends in Out-of-School Suspension for Secondary Students

In this section, we describe the extent to which students in each state are being suspended and the progress that states have made in reducing suspension rates and gaps from 2011–12 to 2017–18. Because out-of-school suspensions have historically been concentrated at the secondary school level (see Figure 2), we focus our state-level analyses on secondary school students only.

Out-of-School Suspensions in the 2017–18 School Year

In the 2017–18 school year, the overall out-of-school suspension rate of secondary school students was 7%. While this is a decrease from prior years (see Figure 2), Figure 4 shows substantial state variation in suspension rates and that use of suspension remains high in many states. In Mississippi, South Carolina, and Washington, DC, more than 1 out of every 7 secondary school students (15%) received at least one out-of-school suspension in 2017–18. This is triple the rate at which students in California and Massachusetts were suspended (5%) and more than five times the rate of suspension in Utah (3%).

In Mississippi, South Carolina, and Washington, DC, more than 1 out of every 7 secondary school students (15%) received at least one out-of-school suspension in 2017–18.

Changes in Suspension Rates From 2011–12 to 2017–18

In comparing secondary school suspension rates across time in all 50 states and Washington, DC, we found that the use of out-of-school suspension decreased in 48 states and in Washington, DC, from 2011–12 to 2017–18 (see Appendix B, Table B1).

Table 1 shows the 10 states with suspension rates that were below the national average (7%) in 2017–18 and that had also shown the largest reductions in suspensions since 2011–12. These states include California, Illinois, and Massachusetts. Such states have made efforts to regulate suspending students for relatively minor and nonviolent offenses. For example, California and Illinois are among the nine states³⁴ that prohibit the out-of-school suspension of students for truancy or tardiness.³⁵

Of all the states, only Hawaii and Kansas did not see a decrease in suspensions. In Hawaii, suspension rates increased from 3% in 2011–12 to 7% in 2017–18, while suspension rates in Kansas remained the same, at about 7%.

It is worth noting that these state-level findings mask variation at the district levels. Research has found that even in states in which suspension rates have been decreasing overall, several school districts are suspending students at increasing rates.³⁶ These increases can be large; in Richmond City, GA, for example, suspensions increased by 17 percentage points, from 12% in 2011–12 to 30% 2015–16, and in Trenton Public School District in New Jersey, suspensions rose 16 percentage points, from 3% in 2011–12 to 19% in 2015–16, a sixfold increase.³⁷

Figure 4 States With the Highest and Lowest Out-of-School Suspension Rates in Secondary Schools, 2017–18



Source: U.S. Department of Education Office for Civil Rights, Civil Rights Data Collection, 2017–18.

Table 1

States With the Largest Decreases in Out-of-School Suspension Rates in Secondary Schools, 2011–12 to 2017–18

State	Average Annual Enrollment, 2011–12 to 2017–18	Out-of-School Suspension Rate, 2011-12 (%)	Out-of-School Suspension Rate, 2017-18 (%)	Change in Suspension Rates, 2011–12 to 2017–18 (Percentage Points)
Illinois	883,312	9.8	5.4	-4.4
California	2,852,723	8.9	4.9	-4.0
Massachusetts	422,665	8.3	4.8	-3.5
Vermont	31,205	8.5	5.2	-3.3
Oregon	268,953	8.9	5.7	-3.2
Maryland	417,187	9.7	6.8	-3.0
Washington	523,610	8.7	5.7	-3.0
Texas	2,412,610	8.9	6.4	-2.5
Idaho	133,100	5.8	3.7	-2.2
Wisconsin	385,063	8.2	6.2	-2.0

Note: Only states with suspension rates in 2017-18 that were below the national average (6.9%) are included in this table. Source: U.S. Department of Education Office for Civil Rights, Civil Rights Data Collection, 2013-14, 2015-16, and 2017-18.

To see if schools may have replaced out-of-school suspension with in-school suspension, another form of discipline that removes students from the classroom, we compared states' change in outof-school suspension rates and in-school suspension rates. We found that in Colorado, Kentucky, Nebraska, North Carolina, and Wyoming, in-school suspensions increased at a rate that was greater than the decrease in out-of-school suspensions. This suggests that even though out-of-school suspension rates were decreasing in these states, more students were being taken out of classrooms through in-school suspension.

State-level policies can be enacted to support the reduction of out-of-school suspension rates without increasing other forms of exclusionary discipline. For example, Massachusetts requires schools to first use alternative forms of discipline, such as mediation, restorative justice, and behavioral intervention and supports, before considering out-of-school suspension as a last resort. In addition, regardless of the level of offense, schools in Massachusetts must provide alternative education services to suspended students, such as tutoring or distance learning.³⁸ California has adopted multiple policies that limit the use of out-of-school suspensions for minor offenses and encourage alternatives to exclusionary discipline. (See "California Policies and Practices Aimed at Reducing Exclusionary Discipline.")

California Policies and Practices Aimed at Reducing Exclusionary Discipline

California has put in significant effort to reduce the use of exclusionary discipline. To lower suspension rates and incentivize the improvement of school climate and student engagement, California included school climate as one if its eight funding priorities in its Local Control Funding Formula, which was enacted in 2013, and included suspension rates in its statewide accountability and improvement system. Later, under the Every Student Succeeds Act, passed in 2015, California was one of three states that included suspension rates in its federally required accountability system as well.

With the signing of Assembly Bill 420 in 2014, California became one of the first states in the nation to ban suspensions and expulsions of students in grades k-3 for minor misbehaviors such as disruptive conduct and willful defiance. The 5-year bill was made permanent for grades k-3 in 2019 by Governor Gavin Newsom when he signed State Bill 419, which also expanded the prohibition to cover students in grades 4-5 starting in the 2019–20 academic year. The bill also prohibits suspensions and expulsions for disruptive behavior and willful defiance for grades 6-8 until 2025.

Local efforts preceded these state policies. For example, Los Angeles Unified School District (LAUSD), the largest district in the state, began implementing schoolwide positive behavior intervention support in the 2006–07 school year. In 2011–12, it prohibited suspending students for willful defiance. Three years later, in the 2014–15 school year, the district rolled out a restorative justice plan. Through this plan, the district selected schools—based on student demographics and past suspension rates—to receive training on building a sense of community in schools, repairing harm between students and teachers, and reintegrating students who have been suspended. Research has found that the LAUSD saw large declines in suspensions following the district's ban, as well as reduced suspension gaps. Schools in which educators received restorative justice training saw some of the largest reductions in suspensions.

California has also supported educators in reducing the need for suspensions by using more effective practices. The California Commission on Teacher Credentialing updated licensing standards for teachers and administrators to include competencies in teaching social and emotional skills and in using restorative practices to manage classrooms. The California Department of Education also organized workshops and distributed multiple years of funding for professional development focused on alternatives to exclusionary discipline practices that promote respect and help students understand the nature and consequences of their actions.

As a result of these efforts, California has seen a consistent decrease in suspension rates since 2011–12. In 2017–18, California had the seventh-lowest out-of-school suspension rates in the nation (Figure 4) and was one of the states that had made the most progress in reducing the suspension gap between students with and without disabilities (Table 5). In addition, California saw an 80% decline in suspensions for disruption or defiance, from 4.1% in 2012–13 to 0.8% in 2018–19. Research has also found that California students with more exposure to restorative practices were less likely to be subject to exclusionary discipline, saw smaller racial disparities in exclusionary discipline, and showed better academic achievement.

California is continuing to expand on these efforts. In the 2021–22 fiscal year, California allocated \$1.5 billion for its Educator Effectiveness program, which local education agencies can use to fund teacher training on implementing social and emotional learning, using trauma-informed practices, and increasing student access to mental health services. The program also funds professional development for educators on practices to create a positive school climate, including restorative justice, training around implicit biases, multi-tiered systems of support, and transforming the school culture to one that values students from diverse backgrounds.

Sources: Kostyo, S., Cardichon, J., & Darling-Hammond, L. (2018). *Making ESSA's equity promise real: State strategies to close the opportunity gap: Reducing student suspension rates* [Research brief]; Hashim, A. K., Strunk, K. O., & Dhaliwal, T. K. (2018). Justice for all? Suspension bans and restorative justice programs in the Los Angeles Unified School District. *Peabody Journal of Education*, 93(2), 174–189; California Commission on Teacher Credentialing. (2016, July 8). Adoption of Revised California Teaching Performance Expectations; Losen, D. J., & Martinez, P. (2020). *Is California doing enough to close the school discipline gap*? Center for Civil Rights Remedies at the Civil Rights Project, UCLA; Darling-Hammond, S., Trout, S., Fronius, T., & Cerna, R. (2021). *Can restorative practices bridge racial disparities in schools? Evidence from the California Healthy Kids Survey*. WestEd.

Changes in Racial Suspension Gaps in Secondary Schools From 2011–12 to 2017–18

In addition to reducing suspensions overall, several states have made significant headway in reducing disparities in suspension rates between 2011–12 and 2017–18. In this section, we discuss the changes in suspension gaps between Black, Native American, and Latino/a secondary school students as compared to their white peers. While Asian students are suspended at lower rates than white students, we chose white students as the reference group for comparison because of their larger population size in most states and because white students have historically been privileged in accessing opportunities to learn. Finally, although we do not discuss in detail the Pacific Islander–white suspension gap due to the small population of Pacific Islander students in a number of states, we include state-level enrollment and suspension data on Pacific Islander students in Appendix B, Table B5.

Changes in Black-white suspension gaps

In 45 states and Washington, DC, the Black–white out-of-school suspension gap among secondary students narrowed between 2011–12 and 2017–18 (see Appendix B, Table B2). Table 2 lists the 10 states that achieved the largest decreases in Black–white suspension gaps over the 6-year period. We did not include states that suspended Black students at a rate above the national average. Of these states, Rhode Island had the largest decrease in the Black–white suspension gap, from 15 percentage points in 2011–12 to 6 percentage points in 2017–18, with the suspension rates of Black students dropping from 26% to 12% over the 6-year period. Rhode Island's progress may be due in part to a law that the state passed in 2016, which requires districts to analyze their discipline data each year and to look for disparities in suspension rates based on race, ethnicity, or disability status. When a disparity is identified, the district must submit an action plan to address it.³⁹

It is worth noting that although the Black–white suspension gap narrowed in Hawaii, the suspension rate of Black students actually increased, indicating that the gap was narrowed not because fewer Black students were suspended but because more white students were suspended. The suspension rate of Black students in Hawaii increased 2 percentage points, from 5% in 2011–12 to 7% in 2017–18, while suspensions of white students increased 3 percentage points, from 3% to 6%.

In addition, suspension rates of Black secondary students are still very high in many of the states highlighted in Table 2. More than 1 in 7 Black students received one or more suspensions in Illinois (16%) in 2017–18, and 1 out of 8 Black students were suspended in Florida (13%), much higher than the national suspension rate of secondary school students (7%). Out of the 10 states listed in Table 2, only Idaho and Utah were suspending Black students at similar rates as the overall national average in 2017–18, and these states had relatively low enrollments of Black students in their secondary schools.

We also found an increase in Black–white suspension gaps from 2011–12 to 2017–18 in five states: Kansas, Mississippi, Nevada, North Dakota, and South Carolina. These states generally have high rates of Black student enrollment and high suspension rates of Black students. For example, South Carolina has about 123,000 Black students enrolled, accounting for 35% of secondary school students in the state. In 2017–18, more than 1 in 4 (26%) of South Carolina's Black secondary school students were suspended at least once, nearly triple the rate of their white peers (9%). This 17 percentage point Black–white gap was even higher than the gap observed in 2011–12, when it was just under 16 percentage points. South Carolina's school discipline policies may be contributing to its high rates of suspension and large suspension gaps. The state permits suspensions and expulsions of students for "any crime, gross immorality, gross misbehavior, persistent disobedience, or for violation or written rules and promulgated regulations," which creates many opportunities for educators to issue exclusionary punishments.⁴⁰

Table 2

	Avg. Annual Enrollment of	Avg. Percentage of Black Students		on Rate of Idents (%)		White Suspe ercentage P	
State	Black Students, 2011–12 to 2017–18	Enrolled, 2011-12 to 2017-18 (%)	2011-12	2017-18	2011-12	2017-18	Change, 2011–12 to 2017–18
Rhode Island	5,510	8.6	26.1	11.7	15.1	6.4	-8.7
Oregon	6,335	2.4	21.7	11.9	14.3	6.6	-7.7
Florida	286,647	22.3	26.4	12.8	14.6	7.1	-7.5
Utah	3,758	1.4	14.6	7.1	11.1	5.0	-6.1
Illinois	135,707	15.4	24.3	15.7	18.5	12.6	-5.9
New Mexico	3,356	2.1	21.8	14.2	13.1	7.4	-5.7
Idaho	1,631	1.2	13.4	6.6	8.4	3.3	-5.1
California	178,188	6.2	20.5	12.7	13.3	8.7	-4.6
Wyoming	551	1.3	16.5	11.3	10.8	6.2	-4.6
Maine	2,650	3.4	14.6	9.4	7.6	3.5	-4.1

States With the Largest Decreases in Black–White Suspension Gaps in Secondary Schools, 2011–12 to 2017–18

Note: Only states with suspension rates of Black secondary school students that were below the national average in 2017–18 (16.7%) are included in this table.

Source: U.S. Department of Education Office for Civil Rights, Civil Rights Data Collection, 2011-12 and 2017-18.

Changes in Native American-white suspension gaps

In 45 states, out-of-school suspension gaps between Native American and white secondary school students narrowed from 2011–12 to 2017–18 (see Appendix B, Table B3).⁴¹ Table 3 shows the 10 states that made the greatest reduction in the Native American–white suspension gap and suspended Native American students at rates below the national average of 10% in 2017–18. Of these states, Massachusetts had the largest decrease in the Native American–white suspension gap, from 11 percentage points in 2011–12 to 3 percentage points in 2017–18, with the suspension rate of Native American students dropping from 17% to under 7%, which is on par with the overall national average in 2017–18. Illinois also saw large decreases in the Native American–white suspension gap, from 9 percentage points in 2011–12 to 2 percentage points in 2017–18. The suspension rate of Native American students in the state (5%) was also among the lowest in the nation in 2017–18.

It is important to note that many of the states highlighted in Table 3 have low enrollments of Native American students. Out of the 10 states, only California and New Mexico have a Native American student enrollment that is above the national average. In both of these states, the suspension rate of Native American students declined noticeably, from 17% and 15%, respectively, to 9% in 2017–18; however, this rate remains higher than the suspension rate of secondary school students overall (7%).

We also found that the Native American– white suspension gap increased slightly in several states, including Alaska, Arkansas, and Mississippi.⁴² In Alaska, which enrolled nearly 7,900 Native American students per year from 2011–12 to 2017–18, accounting for about 16% of its secondary school student population, 1 out of 10 Native American students were suspended (10%) in 2017–18, compared to under 6% of white

We also found that the Native American–white suspension gap increased slightly in several states, including Alaska, Arkansas, and Mississippi.

students. This 4 percentage point difference was 1 point lower in 2011–12, when 10% of Native American students and 7% of white students were suspended.

Table 3

States With the Largest Decreases in Native American–White Suspension Gaps in Secondary Schools, 2011–12 to 2017–18

	Avg. Annual Enrollment of Native	Avg. Percentage of Native American				American–White Suspension Gap (Percentage Points)		
State	American Students, 2011–12 to 2017–18	Students Enrolled, 2011–12 to 2017–18 (%)	2011-12	2017-18	2011-12	2017-18	Change, 2011–12 to 2017–18	
Massachusetts	1,207	0.3	16.8	6.5	11.0	3.3	-7.7	
Illinois	2,815	0.3	14.3	4.8	8.5	1.7	-6.8	
Virginia	2,176	0.3	15.1	6.7	7.8	1.5	-6.3	
Maryland	1,312	0.3	15.6	7.3	9.3	3.2	-6.1	
Maine	617	0.8	12.8	6.2	5.8	0.3	-5.5	
Indiana	1,455	0.3	13.8	6.2	5.8	0.4	-5.4	
Missouri	2,089	0.5	14.1	7.2	7.2	2.0	-5.2	
California	19,231	0.7	17.2	9.2	10.1	5.2	-4.9	
New Mexico	16,885	10.7	15.4	9.2	6.7	2.5	-4.2	
Georgia	2,115	0.2	13.6	7.8	6.8	2.8	-4.0	

Note: Only states with suspension rates of Native American secondary school students that were below the national average in 2017–18 (9.9%) and states with an average of at least 500 Native American secondary school students enrolled are included in this table.

Source: U.S. Department of Education Office for Civil Rights, Civil Rights Data Collection, 2011–12 and 2017–18.

Changes in Latino/a-white suspension gaps

In 47 states and Washington, DC, suspension rates of Latino/a secondary students declined between 2011–12 and 2017–18. The declines ranged between 0.7 percentage points in New York to 13 percentage points in Rhode Island, contributing to a reduction in the Latino/a–white suspension gap in these states (see Appendix B, Table B4). Table 4 shows the 10 states with below-average suspension rates for Latino/a secondary school students in 2017–18 that made the most progress in decreasing the Latino/a–white suspension gaps over the 6-year period. Florida and Vermont were the states with the largest narrowing of the suspension gap, with decreases of about 6 percentage points from 2011–12 to 2017–18. This is particularly noteworthy in Florida, where 30% of students are Latino/a and their suspension rate decreased from 16% to 5% over this time. However, news reports have raised questions about whether suspensions were being underreported or masked as absences in some parts of the state.⁴³ The 10 states listed in Table 4 all had suspension rates of Latino/a students that were below the overall national average secondary school suspension rate of 7%. Although this is encouraging, suspensions of Latino/a students remained high in several states in 2017–18, including Pennsylvania (12%), where more than 68,000 secondary school Latino/a students were enrolled annually in recent years, and Ohio (10%), which enrolled nearly 31,000 Latino/a students.

We also found that the Latino/a–white suspension gap increased in a few states, including Arkansas, Hawaii, and New Hampshire. In New Hampshire and Arkansas, not only did suspension gaps increase between 2011–12 and 2017–18, but suspension rates of Latino/a students also remained high, with 16% and 12% of Latino/a students suspended in New Hampshire and Arkansas, respectively.

Table 4

States With the Largest Decreases in Latino/a-White Suspension Gaps in Secondary Schools, 2011-12 to 2017-18

	Avg. Annual Enrollment	Avg. Percentage of Latino/a	Suspension Rate of Latino/a Students (%)		Latino/a-White Suspension Gap (Percentage Points)		
State	of Latino/a Students, 2011-12 to 2017-18	Students Enrolled, 2011–12 to 2017–18 (%)	2011-12	2017-18	2011-12	2017-18	Change, 2011–12 to 2017–18
Vermont	510	1.6	11.9	2.8	3.5	-2.5	-6.0
Florida	388,050	30.2	16.7	5.1	4.9	-0.6	-5.5
Iowa	20,915	9.2	11.5	5.9	6.7	1.8	-4.9
Missouri	21,010	5.0	12.5	6.1	5.6	0.9	-4.7
Washington, DC	3,281	13.5	12.8	6.1	8.3	4.6	-3.7
Illinois	200,342	22.7	10.6	4.7	4.9	1.6	-3.3
Oregon	58,173	21.6	11.4	6.2	3.9	0.8	-3.1
Georgia	109,917	12.9	11.0	6.4	4.2	1.5	-2.7
North Dakota	1,802	3.7	6.8	4.3	4.2	1.7	-2.5
Utah	42,291	15.8	7.9	4.5	4.4	2.4	-2.0

Note: Only states with suspension rates of Native American secondary school students that were below the national average in 2017–18 (6.2%) are included in this table.

Source: U.S. Department of Education Office for Civil Rights, Civil Rights Data Collection, 2011–12 and 2017–18.

Changes in Suspension Gaps Between Students With and Without Disabilities in Secondary Schools From 2011–12 to 2017–18

Besides narrowing racial disparities in suspension, many states have also reduced the suspension gap between secondary school students with and without disabilities. In 47 states and Washington, DC, the suspension rates of secondary students with disabilities decreased from 2011–12 to 2017–18, with declines ranging from 2 to 21 percentage points.⁴⁴ These declines contributed to a narrowing of the disabled–nondisabled suspension gap in 46 states and Washington, DC, from

2011–12 to 2017–18 (see Appendix B, Table B6). Table 5 lists the 10 states with below-average suspension rates of students with disabilities in 2017–18 that had also achieved the largest decreases in suspension gaps compared to 2011–12. Of these states, Montana narrowed its disabled–nondisabled suspension gap the most, from 11 percentage points to 4 percentage points over the 6-year period. The suspension rate of students with disabilities also decreased by half, from 18% in 2011–12 to 9% in 2017–18. While this number is still above the overall suspension rate of secondary students (7%), it is among the lowest in the country, after Utah (6%), North Dakota (7%), New York (8%), and Idaho (9%).

Despite progress in most states, we found that in four states—Arkansas, Delaware, North Dakota, and West Virginia—the suspension gap between students with and without disabilities had increased. In West Virginia, the suspension gap increased by 4 percentage points from 2011–12 to 2017–18; while suspension rates of typically developing students decreased from 13% to 9% during this period, the state made no progress in reducing suspension of students with disabilities. In both 2011–12 and 2017–18, almost 1 in 5 students with disabilities (19%) were suspended at least once.

It is important to note that several states and Washington, DC, continue to suspend students with disabilities at extremely high rates, even though these places have made progress in reducing suspension gaps. For example, about 1 in 4 students with disabilities were suspended in Delaware (25%), Louisiana (25%), South Carolina (25%), and Washington, DC (24%).

	Avg. Annual Enrollment of Students	Avg. Percentage of Students	Suspension Rateof Students WithDisabled-NondisabledDisabilities (%)Gap (Percentage)				
State	With Disabilities, 2011-12 to 2017-18	With Disabilities Enrolled, 2011–12 to 2017–18 (%)	2011-12	2017-18	2011-12	2017-18	Change, 2011–12 to 2017–18
Montana	7,035	11.4	17.6	9.1	11.1	4.2	-6.9
Arizona	45,687	10.8	19.4	12.0	10.8	4.7	-6.1
California	294,019	10.5	18.9	10.0	11.0	5.8	-5.2
Tennessee	51,008	12.3	19.6	11.5	7.9	3.0	-4.9
Minnesota	53,383	13.5	16.2	11.4	11.8	7.3	-4.5
South Dakota	6,371	10.9	16.4	10.3	10.5	6.3	-4.2
Oregon	33,540	12.6	18.3	11.6	10.7	6.8	-3.9
Massachusetts	68,294	16.3	16.5	9.9	9.7	6.1	-3.6
Connecticut	31,093	12.6	16.6	12.1	11.1	7.9	-3.2
Vermont	4,413	14.5	18.4	12.9	12.3	9.1	-3.2

States With the Largest Decreases in Suspension Gaps Between Students With and Without Disabilities in Secondary Schools, 2011–12 to 2017–18

Table 5

Note: Only states with suspension rates of secondary school students with disabilities that were below the national average in 2017-18 (13.3%) are included in this table.

Source: U.S. Department of Education Office for Civil Rights, Civil Rights Data Collection, 2011–12 and 2017–18.

What Influences the Use of Suspensions in Schools?

The trends in suspension rates at the national and state levels and the disparate use of suspension with different groups of students are a result of discipline policies and a set of school-level factors. These factors influence the consideration of which behaviors are a rule violation and educators' response to student behavior. Below we describe the major policies that have influenced schools' use of suspension over the past several decades and how within-school factors and resource allocation relate to educators' utilization of suspension.

Discipline Policies

Policies at the federal, state, and local levels can influence educators' use of exclusionary discipline by requiring or restricting circumstances under which educators suspend or expel students. Below, we describe the two major types of discipline policies that are associated with an increase (zerotolerance policies) and decrease (restorative practices) in exclusionary discipline rates and efforts federal, state, and local policymakers have taken to transition away from zero-tolerance policies toward restorative practices.

Zero-tolerance policies

The use of exclusionary discipline in schools—and its disparate impact by race—has a long-standing history in the United States.⁴⁵ School administrators began to use out-of-school suspensions and expulsions as measures to deal with student misbehavior in the 1960s and early 1970s as school enrollments boomed.⁴⁶ The rates of suspension increased substantially between 1970 and 2010, with particularly sharp increases in the mid-1980s through the 1990s, particularly for Black students.⁴⁷ These increases coincided with federal actions during the Reagan administration, which drastically reduced social spending and promulgated tighter security and tough rule enforcement in schools.⁴⁸ Reagan's war on drugs and other policing initiatives also led to increased stigmatization of Black youth and the rise of zero-tolerance policies, which mandate harsh punishments for violations of particular school rules, regardless of the severity of infraction or situational context.⁴⁹

Zero-tolerance policies are based on the "broken-windows" theory used in policing, which stipulates that strict enforcement of minor crimes would send a deterrent message and prevent more serious and violent crimes. Such policies were adopted in educational settings in the early 1990s to respond to drugs, fighting, and gang-related activity in schools.⁵⁰ In 1994, the Clinton administration formally incorporated school-based zero tolerance into federal law by signing the Gun-Free Schools Act (GFSA), which mandates a 1-year expulsion for any student found to have possessed a weapon on school grounds and requires school districts to refer law-offending students to the criminal or juvenile justice system.⁵¹ The requirement for referrals positioned law enforcement as first responders to student infractions and increased school administrators' accountability for reducing school crime, violence, and misbehavior.⁵²

President Clinton also started the COPS in Schools Program in 1998, injecting more than \$800 million for hiring and training school police.⁵³ A quasi-experimental study analyzing data on 2.5 million students in Texas from 1999 to 2008 found that middle schools that received COPS grants increased their disciplinary actions by 6%. The increase in disciplinary actions in middle schools was driven by sanctions for minor infractions of school code and conduct violations, with Black middle school students experiencing the largest increases in discipline. While disciplinary rates did not change in grant-receiving high schools, receipt of the COPS grant was associated with a 2.5% decrease in high school graduation rates.⁵⁴

As a result of these federal funds, schools and the juvenile justice system began to collaborate closely, with incidents previously resolved internally by educators increasingly referred to school police and then to municipal police. This led to the criminalization of disorderly conduct, with students as young as age 6 receiving misdemeanor tickets for minor misbehaviors.⁵⁵ After the passage of the GFSA, zero-tolerance policies became the norm in public schools. A 1998 report found that 94% of schools in the country had implemented at least some component of zero-tolerance policies.⁵⁶ The No Child Left Behind Act, passed by the George W. Bush administration in 2002, further incentivized states to adopt a zero-tolerance policy for "violent or persistently disruptive students."⁵⁷

While zero tolerance was originally intended to keep schools safe, research has found that the scope of zero-tolerance policies expanded beyond firearms and illegal drugs to include nonviolent misbehavior such as tardiness and disrespect.⁵⁸ Research and news media have documented numerous students being suspended or expelled for minor infractions, including pointing a gun drawn on paper at classmates or bringing a plastic axe to school as part of a Halloween costume.⁵⁹

The scope of zero-tolerance policies expanded beyond firearms and illegal drugs to include nonviolent misbehavior such as tardiness and disrespect.

Even in Washington, DC, which prohibits out-of-school suspension of students for minor infractions such as truancy, tardiness, and dress code violations, 55% of out-of-school suspensions and 72% of in-school suspensions issued in 2018–19 were for nonviolent incidents.⁶⁰

In addition to contributing to an increase in the overall rate of suspensions, implementation of zero-tolerance policies is linked with increased racial disparities in suspension rates. Nationwide, the Black–white suspension gap increased from 6 percentage points to 12 percentage points from 1990 to 2010. A study of a midsize urban school district found that when the district expanded zero-tolerance policies, the suspension rate remained largely unchanged for white students but increased for Black students, widening the Black–white suspension gap by 30%.⁶¹ Scholars have argued that zero-tolerance approaches to school discipline exclude students who are most in need of education, violate students' right to due process, and absolve schools of their responsibility to provide a nurturing and caring environment in which all students can learn.⁶²

Restorative discipline policy

A growing body of research has found that the comprehensive use of restorative practices is central to addressing the root causes of student misbehavior and reducing schools' reliance on exclusionary discipline.⁶³ Restorative practices comprise a proactive, relationship-centered approach to building a positive school climate and addressing student behavior. Such practices focus on belonging over exclusions, social engagement over control, and meaningful accountability over punishment.⁶⁴ Restorative practices are closely integrated with social and emotional learning, as students are encouraged to acknowledge and manage their emotions, develop empathy for others, establish positive relationships, and handle challenges effectively.⁶⁵ One example of restorative practices

is restorative conferences, where a trained facilitator brings together the victim, the offender, and members of the school community to guide them through reflective questions and develop a consensus to repair harm.⁶⁶ Such practices are based on the science of learning and development, which indicates that "students will be most inclined to demonstrate positive behavior when their school climates and relationships inspire feelings of trust, safety, and belonging."⁶⁷

Many studies have found restorative practices to be effective in reducing the use of exclusionary discipline and narrowing disparities; improving school climate, student behavior, and school attendance; and reducing absenteeism.⁶⁸ For example, a randomized controlled trial conducted in 44 Pittsburgh, PA, middle schools (half of which implemented schoolwide restorative practices) found that teachers in schools that implemented restorative practices (treatment schools) had improved perceptions of school climate, working conditions, and school leadership. Days of instruction lost to suspensions in treatment schools were also lower by 16%, and there was a small but notable reduction in the racial discipline gap.⁶⁹ A study that surveyed high school students found that teachers who implemented restorative practices in classrooms issued fewer exclusionary discipline referrals, especially for Black and Latino/a students, and had more positive relationships with students from diverse backgrounds.⁷⁰ While evidence of impact on students' education achievement and attainment is mixed, restorative practices set positive conditions for learning through improved school climate and increased attendance.⁷¹ Mixed evidence may be due to lack of implementation of the restorative practices within a program. A recent large-scale study in California examined the impact of exposure to restorative practices and found that increased exposure to restorative practices resulted in multiple benefits for students, including higher achievement in mathematics and English language arts, lower rates of suspension, and improved student mental health, with particularly strong benefits for Black students.⁷²

Transitioning from a culture of punishment to a restorative paradigm can reasonably take 3–5 years.⁷³ School and district leaders should acknowledge that transitioning to restorative approaches may involve growing pains and temporary setbacks before schools see long-term gains,⁷⁴ and they should commit to supporting multiple years of implementation while adjusting accountability measures to increase buy-in and decrease teacher turnover, two barriers to successfully incorporating restorative practices in classrooms.⁷⁵

Efforts to reduce exclusionary discipline

Just as zero-tolerance policies are associated with increases in suspension rates and suspension gaps, efforts to eliminate zero-tolerance policies and replace exclusionary discipline with supportive practices are associated with decreases in suspension rates and suspension gaps. These policy changes have been advanced at the federal, state, and local levels.

Federal efforts. Soon after President Obama took office in 2009, the administration, recognizing the federal government's role in protecting students' civil rights and addressing educational inequities, began to focus on reforming school discipline. In 2011, the U.S. Departments of Education and Justice launched the Support School Discipline Initiative. The goal was to reduce the use of exclusionary discipline in schools by developing consensus-based recommendations and investing in research and data collection.⁷⁶ Under the initiative, the Council of State Governments was commissioned to work with a multidisciplinary advisory group of more than 100 members to develop the 2014 School Discipline Consensus Report. The report includes recommendations on managing student behavior; examples of implementation; and tools that states, districts,

and schools can use to reduce schools' reliance on exclusionary discipline. The report's guidance centered on building a positive school climate through restorative practices; providing tiered levels of behavioral interventions; and maintaining close collaboration between education, police, and court officials.⁷⁷

In 2014, the Department of Education issued a guidance package on civil rights and school discipline. The guidance provided information to support states, districts, and schools in their efforts to move away from zero-tolerance policies and toward research-based, restorative practices. It noted that racial and other disparities in exclusionary discipline could lead to a federal investigation into whether a district had violated civil rights laws, regardless of whether the disparities were caused by discriminatory practices or by the disparate impacts of a neutral school discipline policy on students.⁷⁸ The guidance package included four educative components:

- A "Dear Colleague" guidance letter on civil rights and discipline describing how, under federal law, schools can meet their legal obligations to administer student discipline without discriminating against students on the basis of race, color, or national origin. The letter includes information and examples for schools regarding how to determine the existence of intentional discrimination and disparate impact and identify the appropriate remedies.
- 2. Research-based "Guiding Principles" describing actions states and districts can take to improve school climate and school discipline, including alternatives to exclusionary discipline practices.
- 3. A "Directory of Federal School Climate and Discipline Resources," including sample memorandums of understanding, discipline policies, and surveys.
- 4. A "Compendium of School Discipline Laws and Regulations" cataloging the school discipline laws and regulations in each state.

In 2015, President Obama signed the Every Student Succeeds Act (ESSA), a new iteration of the Elementary and Secondary Education Act (ESEA). In contrast to the No Child Left Behind Act, which incentivized states to adopt zero-tolerance policies,⁷⁹ ESSA encouraged states to include school climate indicators such as suspension and expulsion rates as part of their accountability systems, which could create incentives for schools to transition away from exclusionary discipline.⁸⁰ Currently, California, Rhode Island, and West Virginia include exclusionary discipline rates in their state accountability systems. ESSA also required data on suspensions, expulsions, and school-related arrests to be included in report cards for states and local education agencies.⁸¹

However, in 2018, the Trump administration rescinded the guidance on school discipline and all of its supporting documents.⁸² While the recission did not change existing laws, it removed resources for creating a safe and inclusive learning environment for all students and for addressing a range of actions that reinforce inequities in school.⁸³

In July 2022, the Biden administration released a new guidance package on avoiding discrimination when disciplining students with disabilities.⁸⁴ The guidance emphasizes that providing the required individualized services and supports to students with disabilities could reduce disability-related behaviors that could lead to disciplinary actions, and encourages districts to utilize funding from the American Rescue Plan to hire additional staff and provide professional development for

educators. It also made clear that schools should modify discipline policies to avoid penalizing students for behaviors that resulted from their disability. The package is composed of a series of letters and resources, including:

- a guide titled "Supporting Students With Disabilities and Avoiding the Discriminatory Use of Student Discipline under Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973";⁸⁵
- a Q&A document that outlines the legal requirements related to behavior support and discipline for students with disabilities under IDEA;⁸⁶ and
- a guide titled "Positive, Proactive Approaches to Supporting Children With Disabilities" that includes information about evidence-based alternatives to exclusionary discipline that could help states, districts, and schools meet IDEA requirements and improve outcomes for students with disabilities, including restorative practices and investing in school and educator capacity.⁸⁷

State policies. Over the past decade, a growing number of states have been amending zerotolerance policies and limiting exclusionary discipline. As of May 2021, at least 15 states and Washington, DC, have placed limitations on the use of exclusionary discipline in schools, and at least 37 states and Washington, DC, encourage the use of nonpunitive alternatives to suspensions.⁸⁸ Additionally, at least 22 states and Washington, DC, have requirements for reporting and disaggregating exclusionary data to highlight disparities.⁸⁹

A few states have combined revised discipline policies with sets of supports. For example, since 2016, Massachusetts has identified schools with high suspension rates or large disparities in suspension and requires them to participate in a professional learning network to improve their

school climate.⁹⁰ Indiana passed a bill in 2018 that requires the state department of education to survey school discipline policies and determine the extent to which positive discipline and restorative justice practices are used.⁹¹ It is also required to ensure that educators have access to the support and training they need to implement restorative practices.⁹² Several states, including California, have leveraged their accountability systems to hold schools accountable for improving school climate and have allocated funds for professional development and support to do so. As described earlier, along with legislation limiting the use of suspensions, California saw major declines in suspensions as well as reduction in suspension gaps.

Several states, including California, have leveraged their accountability systems to hold schools accountable for improving school climate and have allocated funds for professional development and support to do so.

Local policies. Even before federal efforts to curb exclusionary discipline were launched during the Obama administration, a number of districts pushed for discipline reform. For example, in 2008, in response to parents and youth advocacy, Denver Public Schools ended its zero-tolerance discipline policies and began implementing restorative practices.⁹³ Between 2006 and 2013, the overall suspension rate in Denver declined from 11% to 6%, and the suspension gap between Black and white students narrowed from 12 to 8 percentage points.⁹⁴ Another example is Oakland Unified School District in California, which piloted a restorative justice program at a middle school in

2005. By 2014, the district was running similar programs in 24 schools. From 2011–12 to 2013–14, suspension rates at district schools running whole-school restorative justice programs decreased from 24% to 14% and graduation rates increased from 45% to 72%.⁹⁵

School Factors Influencing Use of Suspension

A growing body of research shows that the rates of exclusionary punishments and discipline disparities are mainly attributable to certain factors within the school.⁹⁶ These factors, which are often the result of policy decisions at the federal, state, local, and school levels, include educator implicit bias, teacher preparation and working conditions, and school leadership.

Educator implicit bias

Implicit bias refers to the automatic and unconscious stereotypes that drive a person's behavior and decision-making.⁹⁷ It helps explain why Black students receive more frequent and longer suspensions than white students for the same behavior, and why the largest racial disparities are found in suspensions for subjective infractions, such as defiance, instead of more objective offenses, such as possession of weapons.⁹⁸ An example of how implicit bias manifests was illustrated in a 2016 study in which preschool teachers were asked to monitor classroom footage for student misbehavior. Although there was no misbehavior occurring, the study found that teachers scrutinized Black boys more carefully than students of other demographic profiles.⁹⁹ The study's author noted that if all students misbehaved at equal rates, yet teachers watch one racial or gender group more closely than others with expectations of seeing misbehavior, they will identify more misbehavior from that group and in turn take more frequent disciplinary actions.¹⁰⁰

In another experimental study, researchers showed teachers the same school record of a student, changing the student's name to be either stereotypically Black or white. The more likely a teacher was to think the student was Black, the more likely they were to label the student a troublemaker and to issue more severe disciplinary actions in response to scenarios about the student.¹⁰¹ Studies have also found that educators show more attitudes of concern, indifference, or rejection toward students with disabilities and view them as a threat.¹⁰² In contrast, teachers who are able to develop more empathetic mindsets are more likely to consider contextual factors that affect a student's misconduct, reducing their implicit bias when disciplining students.¹⁰³

Teacher preparation

Teacher preparation also influences use of suspension. A survey of 1,000 public school teachers found that many teachers continued to perceive in-school suspensions (47%), out-of-school suspensions (39%), and expulsions (40%) as effective discipline strategies.¹⁰⁴ Exclusionary discipline is the only tool many teachers are familiar with, and they are reluctant to part with it.¹⁰⁵ Another recent survey found that many school staff, including behavior analysts, felt ill-prepared or uncomfortable to implement interventions to decrease racism in schools.¹⁰⁶

Well-prepared teachers who can engage students with a rigorous curriculum; build strong, trusting relationships; mediate conflict; and effectively manage classrooms are less likely to use exclusionary discipline.¹⁰⁷ Teachers with high social and emotional competence are equipped to consider multiple perspectives and resolve disputes in a culturally responsive manner and are thus
able to defuse or prevent conflicts with students that otherwise may have resulted in disciplinary action.¹⁰⁸ Conversely, when students view teachers as untrustworthy, they are more likely to be uncooperative in the classroom.¹⁰⁹

At the school level, research has found that having a high percentage of inexperienced teachers in a school is associated with higher rates of suspensions.¹¹⁰ Because students of color and students with disabilities have less access to well-qualified teachers, this may contribute to higher suspension rates of these students.¹¹¹ In addition, many general education teachers are not well equipped to handle certain behavioral issues of students with disabilities.¹¹²

School leadership

Principals are instrumental in building a positive school climate, supporting teachers, and leading schoolwide school discipline reform.¹¹³ School administrators play a critical role in addressing disproportionate exclusionary discipline, as they hold the authority to classify the severity of a misconduct and issue a consequence for the student.¹¹⁴ Studies have found that principals who support zero-tolerance policies are more likely to remove students from schools.¹¹⁵ Given that teacher support for zero-tolerance policies remains widespread (for example, 74% teachers support zero tolerance in Virginia),¹¹⁶ effective school leadership is paramount to getting staff buy-in to shift away from exclusionary discipline practices.¹¹⁷ However, principal surveys have found that a third of principals did not have any training during their preparation programs on using discipline for restorative purposes.¹¹⁸

Educator working conditions

Staffing shortages exacerbate the already stressful working conditions that educators face, particularly those in under-resourced schools that disproportionately serve students of color. When educators are stretched thin and overwhelmed, they may have less bandwidth to respond to students' social and emotional needs and resort to removing students from classrooms. Studies also suggest that teachers in cognitively demanding and stressful environments are more likely to rely on gut reactions when making decisions, increasing the threat of implicit bias entering decisions.¹¹⁹ Principals operating at the brink of their capacity with overwhelming work schedules also have little time to develop staff capacity and engage resources such as counselors, social workers, and parents.¹²⁰

Resources

Funding and resource allocation play a major role in determining how schools operate, the quality of teachers, and the amount of student support services available.¹²¹ Sufficient resources are required to prepare high-quality teachers, improve teacher working conditions, and provide professional development to equip educators with the skills to build a positive school climate and form close relationships with students. In addition, having sufficient support staff such as counselors and social workers can help ease the workload of teachers and administrators, increasing their bandwidth to respond to students' social and emotional needs. Research shows that access to high-quality and adequate support services is associated with fewer incidences of student misbehavior and lower rates of suspensions.¹²²

Unfortunately, school funding is not equitable in the United States, as evidenced by data showing that school districts serving the largest concentrations of students of color receive about \$1,800 less per student in state and local funding compared to districts serving the lowest concentrations of students of color.¹²³ Research has found that schools in lower-income neighborhoods tend to have less instructional resources and higher suspension rates, compared to schools serving the highest-income neighborhoods.¹²⁴

Policy Implications

Efforts to improve approaches to school discipline must be part of a comprehensive approach to address inequities in educational opportunity. The federal government, states, districts, and schools can use these Civil Rights Data Collection (CRDC) data to identify where to target their resources to ensure that all students have equal access to safe, healthy, and inclusive school environments.

Following are six key policy strategies for reducing suspension gaps and exclusionary discipline practices overall at the state and local levels:

- 1. Eliminate zero-tolerance and other exclusionary policies, restrict the use of out-of-school suspensions and expulsions for lower-level offenses, and reduce the length of suspensions for more serious offenses. States and local education agencies can end zero-tolerance and other harsh policies to provide flexibility for educators to consider the severity and situational context when a student violates school rules. State and local policymakers can also require educators to manage disorderly conduct and nonviolent offenses rather than refer them to the police, so that such behavior is addressed in schools instead of in the criminal justice system. Through legislation or other policy reform, states and districts also can prohibit exclusionary disciplinary actions for students who commit nonviolent infractions such as truancy, tardiness, and willful defiance. For example, California prohibits suspensions for minor misbehaviors of students in grades k–5.¹²⁵ In addition, states and districts can protect students' learning opportunities by requiring schools to limit the length of suspensions and provide alternative education services to suspended students.
- 2. Support evidence-based alternative strategies to exclusionary discipline, such as implementing schoolwide restorative practices and teaching social and emotional skills. Restorative practices are a proactive, relationship-centered approach to building a positive school climate and addressing student behavior.¹²⁶ Such practices integrate with social and emotional learning, as students are encouraged to acknowledge and manage their emotions, develop empathy for others, and establish positive relationships.¹²⁷ Research has found that restorative practices are effective in reducing suspensions and improving school climate, especially programs that are implemented schoolwide.¹²⁸ States and districts can leverage the Every Student Succeeds Act Title IV, Part A—the Student Support and Academic Enrichment Grant Program—to fund restorative initiatives.
- 3. Collect and report disaggregated data on exclusionary discipline in a timely manner and use the data to inform equity reviews of district and school discipline policies. States and districts should support accurate reporting of the use of exclusionary discipline in schools, disaggregated by student characteristics such as race, ethnicity, disability status, gender, and income level, and include school discipline in their statewide accountability and continuous improvement systems. Currently, three states have included suspension rates in their accountability systems: California, Rhode Island, and West Virginia.¹²⁹ Data on the amount of lost instruction due to exclusionary discipline, as collected by the federal government, should also be collected, disaggregated, and reported to the public on an annual basis. These data can help identify districts and schools that need extra support to transition to more equitable and restorative discipline practices.

For example, the Massachusetts Department of Elementary and Secondary Education conducts investigations into schools with high suspension rates and large disparities in suspension and provides technical assistance to these schools to improve their school climate.¹³⁰ Legislation in Indiana requires the state education agency to survey school discipline policies and determine the extent to which positive discipline and restorative justice practices are used. The Indiana Department of Education works to ensure that educators have access to the support and training they need to implement restorative practices.¹³¹

- 4. Develop educator preparation standards for supporting positive climates and using restorative practices to manage classrooms. Many teachers and principals are unprepared to use positive discipline practices that can reduce reliance on exclusionary discipline. States can include competencies in building strong relationships, creating supportive climates, and using restorative practices in their standards for approving educator preparation programs and licenses. For example, the California Commission on Teacher Credentialing passed new standards for teachers and administrators, requiring educators to know how to teach social and emotional skills and use restorative practices to manage classrooms.
- 5. Provide professional learning to help educators create inclusive and culturally responsive learning environments and foster trusting relationships with students. Educators who empathize and form trusting relationships with their students are able to solicit students' cooperation and engagement more effectively, reducing the need for exclusionary discipline to maintain a constructive learning environment.¹³² Educators are able to form closer relationships with students when they understand and value the cultures, identities, and experiences of students and their families.¹³³ States and districts can provide resources and training for educators. This can include professional development focused on mitigating implicit biases, developing empathy for students, creating multi-tiered systems of support, advancing restorative practices, providing support for students with disabilities, and transforming the school culture to one that values students from diverse backgrounds. In addition to state funds, states can use up to 5% of their state set-asides for statewide activities under ESSA Title II, Part A, for related teacher professional development.
- 6. Invest in support services that meet the needs of students and educators. Research shows that access to high-quality and adequate support services, including mental health and social services, is associated with fewer incidences of student misbehavior and lower rates of suspensions.¹³⁴ With the COVID-19 pandemic and struggles for racial justice taking an immense toll on children's mental health, additional resources will be required to meet students' needs.¹³⁵ A national survey of 3,300 youth found that about 30% of respondents felt unhappy or depressed, and nearly as many did not feel connected to their school community and had to worry about meeting their basic food and health care needs.¹³⁶ Research shows that pandemic-induced trauma is disproportionately borne by children of color.¹³⁷ States and districts can allocate resources to provide wraparound supports for high-need students and their families and hire more social workers, counselors, and school psychologists in schools serving these students. Hiring a sufficient number of support staff, such as counselors and restorative justice coaches, can also increase the school's

capacity to implement restorative practices. These supports also help ease the workload of teachers and administrators, increasing their bandwidth to respond to students' social and emotional needs without resorting to exclusionary discipline. In addition, educators can have more capacity to participate in professional development opportunities that would enable them to better engage students and implement restorative practices in schools.

To respond to the COVID-19 pandemic, Congress passed the Coronavirus Response and Relief Supplemental Appropriations Act (CRRSAA) and the American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA), which created the Elementary and Secondary School Emergency Relief (ESSER) Fund to support k–12 schools. Districts can use CRRSAA and ARPA funds for any activity authorized under ESSA, including the strategies outlined above.¹³⁸ Further, states may be able to use funds for similar strategies as long as they are used "for emergency needs as determined by the state educational agency to address issues responding to coronavirus."¹³⁹

To support state and local efforts, policymakers at the federal level can:

- 1. Update and reissue the 2014 "Non-Discriminatory Administration of School Discipline" guidance. Many students of color, particularly Black and Native American students, continue to be disproportionately suspended. Although progress was made under the 2014 guidance in limiting exclusionary disciplinary practices and reducing racial disparities in discipline, implementing restorative practices, and protecting civil rights, the guidance was revoked in 2018. The guidance should be reissued and updated regularly to align with the research on effective and non-discriminatory practices. The updated guidance should include:
 - information on how states, districts, and schools can identify and target resources to increase access to mental health services and supports for students of color;
 - technical assistance to support stakeholders in understanding and implementing the guidance;
 - recommendations and resources for implementing non-discriminatory school discipline in virtual learning settings;
 - an updated compendium of current examples of state and district approaches to implementing best practices outlined in the guidance, searchable by topic area and updated regularly;
 - recommendations for professional learning opportunities for educators on implementing alternative strategies to exclusionary discipline; and
 - research and examples on how states, districts, and schools can build positive school climates through restorative practices and revise codes of conduct to reduce the use of suspensions and expulsions for ambiguous categorization of student behavior such as willful defiance.¹⁴⁰

Finally, to help the public better understand the Department of Education's role related to school discipline, the guidance should clarify the Department of Education Office for Civil Rights statutory oversight and enforcement role to investigate claims of discriminatory school discipline practices.

- 2. Support the dissemination and use of newly released Department of Education resources aimed at reducing exclusionary discipline for students with disabilities. Despite some progress over time, students with disabilities continue to be disproportionately suspended. In July 2022, the Department of Education released guidance on the legal requirements for disciplining students with disabilities under the Individuals With Disabilities Act and supportive materials to help educators meet the needs of students with disabilities. Federal policymakers can dedicate resources to promote this guidance and support states, districts, and schools in implementing changes to their current discipline practices.
- 3. Offer technical assistance and increase oversight and accountability to ensure that states and districts accurately report data on their use of exclusionary discipline and referrals to law enforcement. To better understand the use of suspension in schools, the OCR should also require schools to report the total number of suspensions a school issued, in addition to the number of students who were suspended and the total days students missed due to suspensions. This would enable government departments, researchers, and advocates to identify states, districts, and schools with high suspension rates, high magnitudes of lost instruction, and large disparities in suspension rates and to intervene as appropriate.
- 4. Provide additional funding for professional learning that helps educators create inclusive and culturally responsive learning environments and adopt restorative discipline practices. The federal government can support professional learning opportunities that help educators create positive learning environments by increasing funding through ESSA Title II, Part A. Additional resources could be targeted toward professional development activities focused on areas that can reduce the use of exclusionary discipline, such as restorative practices, supporting students of color and students with disabilities, developing empathy for students, and employing asset-based approaches that help students build social and emotional skills.

Conclusion

Our analyses of the Civil Rights Data Collection data provide evidence that exclusionary discipline practices like out-of-school suspensions can be reduced and that suspension gaps can be narrowed. Indeed, from a high point in the early 2010s until the year of the most currently available data, out-of-school suspensions have declined across the nation and in most states. In addition, our analyses find that Black–white, Native American–white, and disabled–nondisabled suspension gaps have narrowed. These gaps narrowed nationally as well as in many states.

Despite this progress, millions of students continue to miss out on classroom instruction due to exclusionary discipline. Suspensions also continue to be meted out disproportionately to Black students, Native American students, and students with disabilities. The consequences can be devastating. Research shows that suspended students frequently struggle in school, drop out, and become involved in the juvenile and criminal justice systems.¹⁴¹ Often this loss of instructional time could be avoided, especially for those students suspended for minor misbehaviors.

From the research literature, we learn that strategies aimed at decreasing exclusionary discipline can be effective. Promising practices include implementing restorative practices, increasing access to well-prepared educators who can engage diverse students, and investing in student support services to address the root causes of student behavior. Efforts to improve equity in school discipline must be part of a comprehensive approach to address inequities in educational opportunity and provide all students with equal access to safe, healthy, and inclusive school environments.

Appendix A: Methodology

The findings from this report are mainly based on analyses of the 2011–12, 2013–14, 2015–16, and 2017–18 Civil Rights Data Collection (CRDC). In looking at trends in out-of-school suspension rates, we also included data points from 1973, 1982–83, 1988–89, 1996–97, 2000–01, 2002–03, 2004–05, 2006–07, and 2009–10, which we drew from other research and estimates published by the Office for Civil Rights.¹⁴² In the CRDC survey, several race and ethnic groups were referred to differently than the labels used in this report. "Latino/a" was referred to as "Hispanic or Latino of any race" in the survey; "Native American" was referred to as "American Indian or Alaska Native"; "Pacific Islander" was referred to as "Black" or African American." We used the shorter names in this report for simplicity.

Data Cleaning

We first merged school characteristics data (which includes grades offered and school type), enrollment data, and suspension data from the 2011–12, 2013–14, 2015–16, and 2017–18 CRDC data sets. We then removed juvenile justice facilities, virtual schools, and homeschools from the analytic sample by using the juvenile justice indicator variable in the CRDC data set and by filtering schools and districts that included "juvenile," "virtual," "online," or "homeschool" in their names. We also removed schools that had zero enrollment.

Next, we calculated the number of students who received one or more out-of-school suspensions in each school by adding the number of males and females who received one out-of-school suspension and the number of males and females who received two or more out-of-school suspensions. We then divided this by the total number of students in the school to produce the suspension rate. Some schools had suspension rates that were greater than 100%. This could be due to two reasons: (1) misreporting of data, and/or (2) schools with high suspension rates significantly expanding their enrollment during the school year (schools report enrollment data in October, whereas suspension data is reported based on the entire school year). Because the latter is possible in alternative schools but unlikely to happen in traditional schools,¹⁴³ we removed traditional schools that had suspension rates greater than 100% and alternative schools with suspension rates greater than 150%. Schools were only removed if they had enrollments of 10 or more students. Table A1 summarizes the number of schools removed by year, and Table A2 shows the final number of districts, schools, and students represented in our analyses.

Table A1Number of Traditional and Alternative Schools Removed Due to ImprobableSuspension Rates, by Year

Year	Traditional Schools Removed	Alternative Schools Removed
2011-12	1,386	401
2013-14	783	167
2015-16	685	192
2017-18	418	115
Total	3,272	875

Table A2Number of Districts, Schools, and Students Represented in the CRDC DataSet, by Year

Year	Districts	Schools	Students
2011-12	16,308	91,497	48,520,680
2013-14	16,571	92,038	49,194,108
2015-16	17,178	94,469	50,081,668
2017-18	17,458	94,237	50,284,952

Next, we sorted schools into elementary, secondary, and k–12 schools based on the grades each school offered. Table A3 summarizes how we categorized schools by level, and Table A4 shows the number of schools that were sorted into each category by year.

Table A3Grade-Span Configurations of Elementary, Secondary, andCombined Schools

Category	Grade-Span Configurations
Elementary	Schools with any combination of grades $k\mathchar`-5$ and without any grades above 7th grade
Secondary	Schools with any combination of grades 6–12 and without any lower grades
K-12	All elementary and secondary schools, and k-8 and k-12 schools

Table A4

Number of Elementary, Secondary, and K–12 Schools in the CRDC Data Set, by Year

Year	Elementary Schools	Secondary Schools	K-12 Schools
2011-12	46,242	33,582	11,673
2013-14	46,241	34,123	11,674
2015-16	46,470	34,330	13,669
2017-18	46,733	34,951	12,553

Data Analysis

To calculate the suspension rates of students by race and ethnicity, school level, and disability status, we first added the number of students from each subgroup who received one suspension and the number of students who received two or more suspensions. This produced the total number of students from each subgroup who were suspended that school year in the school. We then added the

totals from each school to produce a national or state total, which we divided by the total number of students enrolled in that subgroup in the country to produce the national or state suspension rate. Enrollment numbers for each student subgroup except for students without disabilities were directly provided in the data set. To calculate the number of students without disabilities, we subtracted the number of students with disabilities from the total number of students enrolled.

Using the same method, we calculated overall in-school suspension rates at both the national and state level and analyzed their changes from 2011–12 to 2017–18. We reported whether these trends mirrored trends in out-of-school suspension at the national and state levels, as this could help readers determine whether any decreases in out-of-school suspensions were genuine or whether schools had just switched to in-school suspensions instead.

Finally, to compare out-of-school suspension gaps between subgroups of students and across years, we simply subtracted the suspension rate of one group from another and reported the percentage-point differences.

We describe suspension gaps between student groups in two ways: (1) in absolute percentage differences between the two groups (e.g., 5 percentage point gap), and (2) the relative magnitude of one group's rate versus another (e.g., four times as likely to be suspended). Relative measures can be misleading, especially at extreme values. For example, if the suspension rates for group A and group B were 5% and 10%, respectively, the absolute difference is 5 percentage points, and in relative terms group B is suspended at twice the rate of group A. However, if the suspension rates were 0.1% for group A and 0.5% for group B, the absolute difference would be just 0.4 percentage points—much lower than in the first case, but the relative difference would be much larger, with group B suspended at five times the rate of group A. Therefore, we always present absolute percentage differences in this report, but at times we also provide the relative difference for illustrative purposes.

Table B1 Change in Out-of-School Suspension Rates in Secondary Schools by State, 2011–12 to 2017–18

State	Average Annual Enrollment, 2011-12 to 2017-18	Out-of-School Suspension Rate, 2011–12 (%)	Out-of-School Suspension Rate, 2017–18 (%)	Change in Suspension Rates, 2011–12 to 2017–18 (Percentage Points)
Alabama	308,272	15.4	10.8	-4.6
Alaska	48,513	8.0	7.4	-0.6
Arizona	436,859	9.6	7.7	-1.9
Arkansas	211,995	12.2	10.4	-1.9
California	2,852,723	8.9	4.9	-4.0
Colorado	388,469	8.6	7.2	-1.4
Connecticut	249,403	6.6	5.3	-1.3
Delaware	62,616	15.8	11.9	-3.9
Florida	1,283,491	16.3	7.0	-9.3
Georgia	855,305	12.7	9.3	-3.5
Hawaii	79,506	2.8	6.9	4.1
Idaho	133,100	5.8	3.7	-2.2
Illinois	883,312	9.8	5.4	-4.4
Indiana	476,983	10.9	7.9	-2.9
Iowa	226,938	6.7	5.5	-1.3
Kansas	222,173	6.5	6.6	0.1
Kentucky	321,274	9.6	8.5	-1.1
Louisiana	276,073	14.0	11.9	-2.0
Maine	76,883	7.3	6.0	-1.3
Maryland	417,187	9.7	6.8	-3.0
Massachusetts	422,665	8.3	4.8	-3.5
Michigan	701,841	11.7	8.9	-2.8
Minnesota	399,660	6.0	5.2	-0.8
Mississippi	210,226	16.1	14.7	-1.4
Missouri	423,704	10.7	7.5	-3.2
Montana	66,157	7.2	5.4	-1.8
Nebraska	142,743	8.4	7.1	-1.3

State	Average Annual Enrollment, 2011-12 to 2017-18	Out-of-School Suspension Rate, 2011–12 (%)	Out-of-School Suspension Rate, 2017–18 (%)	Change in Suspension Rates, 2011–12 to 2017–18 (Percentage Points)
Nevada	223,418	9.7	8.8	-0.9
New Hampshire	83,981	9.3	8.0	-1.3
New Jersey	601,058	8.0	6.0	-1.9
New Mexico	158,517	13.1	9.0	-4.1
New York	1,257,947	5.2	4.2	-1.0
North Carolina	736,008	13.6	9.9	-3.7
North Dakota	49,242	3.8	3.6	-0.2
Ohio	776,411	10.0	8.2	-1.8
Oklahoma	282,880	9.2	7.3	-1.9
Oregon	268,953	8.9	5.7	-3.2
Pennsylvania	778,120	8.6	7.2	-1.4
Rhode Island	64,310	14.9	7.1	-7.9
South Carolina	356,116	16.4	14.8	-1.6
South Dakota	62,816	6.3	4.7	-1.5
Tennessee	419,716	12.6	8.8	-3.8
Texas	2,412,610	8.9	6.4	-2.5
Utah	268,227	4.5	2.7	-1.8
Vermont	31,205	8.5	5.2	-3.3
Virginia	634,846	10.8	7.9	-2.8
Washington	523,610	8.7	5.7	-3.0
Washington, DC	24,323	23.5	14.9	-8.6
West Virginia	120,329	13.6	10.3	-3.3
Wisconsin	385,063	8.2	6.2	-2.0
Wyoming	43,268	6.6	5.8	-0.8

Source: U.S. Department of Education Office for Civil Rights, Civil Rights Data Collection, 2011–12, 2013–14, 2015–16, and 2017–18.

Table B2

Changes in Black–White Out-of-School Suspension Gaps in Secondary Schools by State, 2011–12 to 2017–18

	Avg. Annual Enrollment of Black Students,	Avg. Percentage of Black Students,	Suspension Rate of Black Students (%)		Black-White Suspension Gap (Percentage Points)	
State	2011-12 to 2017-18	2011-12 to 2017-18 (%)	2011-12	2017-18	2011-12	2017-18
Alabama	109,748	35.6	27.6	20.6	19.0	14.7
Alaska	1,973	4.1	16.4	15.4	9.7	9.7
Arizona	23,064	5.3	17.3	14.7	10.3	8.7
Arkansas	43,056	20.3	27.3	20.9	19.7	14.6
California	178,188	6.2	20.5	12.7	13.3	8.7
Colorado	19,064	4.9	17.6	14.1	11.8	8.6
Connecticut	28,853	11.6	16.6	13.3	13.1	10.7
Delaware	19,653	31.4	26.7	21.2	17.3	14.4
Florida	286,647	22.3	26.4	12.8	14.6	7.1
Georgia	316,083	37.0	21.2	16.2	14.4	11.3
Hawaii	1,669	2.1	4.6	6.9	1.8	1.4
Idaho	1,631	1.2	13.4	6.6	8.4	3.3
Illinois	135,707	15.4	24.3	15.7	18.5	12.6
Indiana	50,662	10.6	27.8	21.1	19.8	15.3
Iowa	13,066	5.8	26.0	20.0	21.1	15.9
Kansas	16,295	7.3	17.3	19.0	12.6	14.2
Kentucky	36,107	11.2	23.1	21.7	15.4	14.9
Louisiana	121,201	43.9	19.9	17.5	11.1	10.1
Maine	2,650	3.4	14.6	9.4	7.6	3.5
Maryland	141,550	33.9	15.3	11.9	9.0	7.8
Massachusetts	36,496	8.6	16.8	10.2	10.9	7.0
Michigan	107,568	15.3	27.6	20.5	19.5	14.0
Minnesota	38,487	9.6	20.3	16.4	16.6	13.2
Mississippi	109,147	51.9	22.9	22.0	14.2	14.9
Missouri	63,875	15.1	27.6	19.5	20.7	14.3
Montana	745	1.1	11.2	6.4	5.6	2.2
Nebraska	9,233	6.5	32.5	25.3	26.8	20.6
Nevada	23,486	10.5	20.5	22.5	13.6	16.5
New Hampshire	1,888	2.2	24.6	18.3	15.8	11.0

	Avg. Annual Enrollment of Black Students,	Enrollment of Black Students,of Black Students,Suspension Rate of Black Students (%)		Black-White Suspension Gap (Percentage Points)		
State	2011-12 to 2017-18	2011-12 to 2017-18 (%)	2011-12	2017-18	2011-12	2017-18
New Jersey	88,330	14.7	18.1	15.7	13.1	12.3
New Mexico	3,356	2.1	21.8	14.2	13.1	7.4
New York	219,805	17.5	8.8	7.6	4.0	3.6
North Carolina	192,679	26.2	24.3	19.2	16.0	13.3
North Dakota	2,132	4.3	6.6	6.9	4.0	4.3
Ohio	110,100	14.2	25.7	20.7	18.9	15.0
Oklahoma	26,761	9.5	20.0	17.8	12.4	11.6
Oregon	6,335	2.4	21.7	11.9	14.3	6.6
Pennsylvania	95,164	12.2	23.3	19.5	17.8	14.9
Rhode Island	5,510	8.6	26.1	11.7	15.1	6.4
South Carolina	123,201	34.6	26.0	26.2	15.6	17.3
South Dakota	1,846	2.9	15.0	11.6	11.2	8.6
Tennessee	94,772	22.6	29.1	23.4	21.8	18.5
Texas	304,616	12.6	19.9	15.0	15.4	11.6
Utah	3,758	1.4	14.6	7.1	11.1	5.0
Vermont	878	2.8	13.8	8.5	5.4	3.2
Virginia	147,054	23.2	21.2	17.5	13.9	12.4
Washington	24,426	4.7	18.5	12.8	11.3	8.1
Washington, DC	18,629	76.6	26.4	19.2	22.0	17.7
West Virginia	6,283	5.2	27.5	20.8	14.7	11.1
Wisconsin	31,234	8.1	34.8	25.0	30.3	21.2
Wyoming	551	1.3	16.5	11.3	10.8	6.2

Source: U.S. Department of Education Office for Civil Rights, Civil Rights Data Collection, 2011–12, 2013–14, 2015–16, and 2017–18.

Table B3

Changes in Native American–White Out-of-School Suspension Gaps in Secondary Schools by State, 2011–12 to 2017–18

	Avg. Annual Enrollment of Native American Students,	of of Native Suspension Rate of Native Suspension an American American Students (%) (Percentage				sion Gap
State	2011-12 to 2017-18	2011–12 to 2017–18 (%)	2011-12	2017-18	2011-12	2017-18
Alabama	2,526	0.8	12.9	8.5	4.3	2.5
Alaska	7,855	16.2	10.1	10.1	3.4	4.4
Arizona	23,338	5.3	19.0	14.5	12.0	8.5
Arkansas	1,626	0.8	8.9	11.4	1.3	5.1
California	19,231	0.7	17.2	9.2	10.1	5.2
Colorado	3,443	0.9	17.7	10.6	11.9	5.0
Connecticut	883	0.4	11.6	6.9	8.1	4.3
Delaware	292	0.5	18.5	10.1	9.1	3.3
Florida	5,141	0.4	16.2	7.3	4.4	1.6
Georgia	2,115	0.2	13.6	7.8	6.8	2.8
Hawaii	369	0.5	6.9	7.1	4.0	1.7
Idaho	1,897	1.4	10.5	7.8	5.4	4.6
Illinois	2,815	0.3	14.3	4.8	8.5	1.7
Indiana	1,455	0.3	13.8	6.2	5.8	0.4
Iowa	1,119	0.5	11.6	7.9	6.7	3.8
Kansas	2,783	1.3	9.8	8.5	5.0	3.7
Kentucky	582	0.2	9.5	6.7	1.8	0.0
Louisiana	1,928	0.7	16.8	11.3	7.9	3.9
Maine	617	0.8	12.8	6.2	5.8	0.3
Maryland	1,312	0.3	15.6	7.3	9.3	3.2
Massachusetts	1,207	0.3	16.8	6.5	11.0	3.3
Michigan	5,493	0.8	15.1	12.3	7.0	5.8
Minnesota	6,703	1.7	18.9	13.6	15.2	10.4
Mississippi	578	0.3	7.8	11.0	-0.9	3.9
Missouri	2,089	0.5	14.1	7.2	7.2	2.0
Montana	7,146	10.8	19.1	14.6	13.6	10.5
Nebraska	2,049	1.4	18.0	15.9	12.3	11.2
Nevada	2,218	1.0	17.1	14.6	10.2	8.6

	Avg. Annual Enrollment of Native American Students,	Avg. Percentage of Native American Students,	Suspension Rate of Native American Students (%)		Native American–White Suspension Gap (Percentage Points)	
State	2011-12 to 2017-18	2011-12 to 2017-18 (%)	2011-12	2017-18	2011-12	2017-18
New Hampshire	321	0.4	9.2	7.7	0.4	0.5
New Jersey	907	0.2	11.1	5.5	6.1	2.1
New Mexico	16,885	10.7	15.4	9.2	6.7	2.5
New York	7,910	0.6	9.4	4.7	4.5	0.7
North Carolina	8,892	1.2	20.9	15.3	12.5	9.4
North Dakota	4,340	8.8	12.6	10.8	9.9	8.2
Ohio	1,441	0.2	10.9	8.2	4.1	2.5
Oklahoma	42,462	15.0	9.0	7.3	1.5	1.2
Oregon	4,422	1.6	17.8	11.4	10.3	6.0
Pennsylvania	1,484	0.2	10.4	8.7	4.8	4.1
Rhode Island	468	0.7	35.7	18.4	24.7	13.1
South Carolina	1,278	0.4	19.4	13.8	9.0	4.9
South Dakota	5,901	9.4	22.9	13.2	19.1	10.2
Tennessee	1,020	0.2	11.4	6.5	4.2	1.6
Texas	10,518	0.4	8.7	5.5	4.2	2.1
Utah	3,293	1.2	11.2	6.3	7.8	4.1
Vermont	296	0.9	17.0	4.8	8.6	-0.5
Virginia	2,176	0.3	15.1	6.7	7.8	1.5
Washington	7,604	1.5	19.5	11.1	12.3	6.4
West Virginia	182	0.2	7.5	9.4	-5.3	-0.2
Wisconsin	5,132	1.3	18.0	11.3	13.5	7.5
Wyoming	1,425	3.3	13.6	12.1	8.0	7.0

Note: We excluded Washington, DC, from this analysis because of its low Native American middle and high school student population (only about 66 students on average per year from 2011–12 to 2017–18).

Source: U.S. Department of Education Office for Civil Rights, Civil Rights Data Collection, 2011–12, 2013–14, 2015–16, and 2017–18.

Table B4

Changes in Latino/a-White Out-of-School Suspension Gaps in Secondary Schools by State, 2011–12 to 2017–18

	Avg. Annual Enrollment of Latino/a Students,	Avg. Percentage of Latino/a Students,	Suspension Rate of Latino/a Students (%)		ino/a Latino/a Students (%) (Percentage Points)		sion Gap
State	2011-12 to 2017-18	2011–12 to 2017–18 (%)	2011-12	2017-18	2011-12	2017-18	
Alabama	15,777	5.1	8.8	4.6	0.2	-1.3	
Alaska	3,612	7.4	9.6	7.1	2.9	1.4	
Arizona	185,889	42.6	10.4	8.0	3.4	2.0	
Arkansas	23,600	11.1	10.5	12.1	2.9	5.8	
California	1,494,645	52.4	9.3	5.1	2.2	1.2	
Colorado	123,876	31.9	12.2	8.9	6.4	3.4	
Connecticut	48,020	19.3	12.4	9.3	8.9	6.8	
Delaware	8,653	13.8	16.7	10.0	7.3	3.2	
Florida	388,050	30.2	16.7	5.1	4.9	-0.6	
Georgia	109,917	12.9	11.0	6.4	4.2	1.5	
Hawaii	5,688	7.2	4.9	8.3	2.0	2.8	
Idaho	22,011	16.5	8.7	5.1	3.7	1.9	
Illinois	200,342	22.7	10.6	4.7	4.9	1.6	
Indiana	44,194	9.3	13.7	7.9	5.7	2.0	
Iowa	20,915	9.2	11.5	5.9	6.7	1.8	
Kansas	38,386	17.3	8.8	7.9	4.1	3.1	
Kentucky	15,166	4.7	10.8	7.9	3.1	1.2	
Louisiana	13,734	5.0	12.7	9.0	3.9	1.6	
Maine	1,401	1.8	14.3	7.1	7.3	1.2	
Maryland	56,198	13.5	7.8	5.2	1.5	1.1	
Massachusetts	63,805	15.1	15.3	8.9	9.5	5.7	
Michigan	42,869	6.1	15.3	9.4	7.2	2.9	
Minnesota	30,179	7.6	10.2	6.9	6.5	3.7	
Mississippi	6,098	2.9	9.6	7.4	0.9	0.3	
Missouri	21,010	5.0	12.5	6.1	5.6	0.9	
Montana	2,520	3.8	10.7	6.6	5.2	2.4	
Nebraska	23,960	16.8	10.2	8.1	4.5	3.4	
Nevada	91,716	41.1	10.2	8.0	3.3	2.0	

	Avg. Annual Enrollment of Latino/a Students.	Avg. Percentage of Latino/a Students,	Suspension Rate of Latino/a Students (%)		Latino/a-White Suspension Gap (Percentage Points)	
State	2011-12 to 2017-18	2011–12 to 2017–18 (%)	2011-12	2017-18	2011-12	2017-18
New Hampshire	4,103	4.9	13.9	16.1	5.1	8.9
New Jersey	125,418	20.9	11.3	7.7	6.3	4.3
New Mexico	94,657	59.7	14.4	9.8	5.7	3.0
New York	301,598	24.0	4.3	3.6	-0.5	-0.4
North Carolina	102,433	13.9	13.4	8.3	5.0	2.4
North Dakota	1,802	3.7	6.8	4.3	4.2	1.7
Ohio	30,956	4.0	14.7	9.9	8.0	4.2
Oklahoma	38,204	13.5	9.5	6.5	1.9	0.4
Oregon	58,173	21.6	11.4	6.2	3.9	0.8
Pennsylvania	68,005	8.7	16.3	11.7	10.8	7.1
Rhode Island	14,608	22.7	21.9	9.2	11.0	3.9
South Carolina	24,317	6.8	14.7	9.3	4.3	0.4
South Dakota	2,812	4.5	11.3	7.4	7.5	4.4
Tennessee	28,558	6.8	12.5	7.5	5.3	2.6
Texas	1,219,465	50.5	9.4	6.5	4.9	3.1
Utah	42,291	15.8	7.9	4.5	4.4	2.4
Vermont	510	1.6	11.9	2.8	3.5	-2.5
Virginia	79,917	12.6	8.8	6.4	1.5	1.3
Washington	106,306	20.3	11.3	7.5	4.1	2.9
Washington, DC	3,281	13.5	12.8	6.1	8.3	4.6
West Virginia	1,806	1.5	14.9	8.5	2.1	-1.2
Wisconsin	36,940	9.6	12.5	7.9	8.0	4.1
Wyoming	5,483	12.7	10.1	8.0	4.5	2.9

Source: U.S. Department of Education Office for Civil Rights, Civil Rights Data Collection, 2011–12, 2013–14, 2015–16, and 2017–18.

Table B5

Changes in Pacific Islander–White Out-of-School Suspension Gaps in Secondary Schools by State, 2011–12 to 2017–18

	Avg. Annual Enrollment of Pacific	Avg. Percentage of Pacific Islander	Suspension Rate of Pacific Islander Students (%)		Pacific Islander–White Suspension Gap (Percentage Points)	
State	Islander Students, 2011–12	Students, 2011–12 to 2017–18 (%)	2011-12	2017-18	2011-12	2017-18
Alabama	350	0.1	6.8	8.0	-1.9	2.1
Alaska	1,514	3.1	14.4	15.9	7.7	10.3
Arizona	1,617	0.4	12.9	6.3	5.9	0.3
Arkansas	1,347	0.4	17.2	16.0	9.6	9.6
California	22,233	0.8	10.7	6.1	3.5	2.1
Colorado	1,113	0.8	9.5	7.6	3.5	2.1
Connecticut	284	0.3	9.5	3.8	6.2	1.2
Delaware	151	0.1	9.7 19.6	6.0	10.2	-0.8
		0.2				
Florida	1,902		9.7	5.6	-2.1	-0.1
Georgia	1,146	0.1	11.8	5.2	5.0	0.3
Hawaii	25,618	32.2	4.3	11.3	1.4	5.9
Idaho	587	0.4	8.2	3.5	3.1	0.2
Illinois	1,160	0.1	9.3	3.4	3.5	0.3
Indiana	433	0.1	7.6	4.6	-0.4	-1.3
lowa	538	0.2	10.1	8.7	5.3	4.6
Kansas	503	0.2	5.5	5.3	0.8	0.5
Kentucky	393	0.1	3.9	7.3	-3.7	0.6
Louisiana	234	0.1	2.0	5.7	-6.9	-1.7
Maine	119	0.2	4.1	2.4	-2.9	-3.5
Maryland	1,530	0.4	4.8	4.9	-1.6	0.8
Massachusetts	604	0.1	7.6	4.2	1.8	0.9
Michigan	900	0.1	4.9	5.8	-3.2	-0.7
Minnesota	414	0.1	5.6	5.6	1.9	2.4
Mississippi	125	0.1	104.2	4.7	95.4	-2.4
Missouri	990	0.2	8.7	8.2	1.8	3.0
Montana	208	0.3	7.8	3.9	2.2	-0.2
Nebraska	246	0.2	8.2	6.3	2.5	1.6
Nevada	3,090	1.4	10.6	8.7	3.8	2.7

	Avg. Annual Enrollment of Pacific Islander	Avg. Percentage of Pacific Islander	Suspension Rate of Pacific Islander Students (%)		Pacific Islander–White Suspension Gap (Percentage Points)	
State	Students, 2011–12	Students, 2011–12 to 2017–18 (%)	2011-12	2017-18	2011-12	2017-18
New Hampshire	104	0.1	3.5	7.8	-5.3	0.5
New Jersey	1,424	0.2	6.7	3.4	1.7	-0.1
New Mexico	222	0.1	6.1	5.6	-2.7	-1.1
New York	2,971	0.2	2.4	1.8	-2.4	-2.2
North Carolina	1,080	0.1	8.5	8.6	0.2	2.7
North Dakota	176	0.4	9.7	0.6	7.0	-2.0
Ohio	665	0.1	11.0	5.6	4.2	0.0
Oklahoma	996	0.4	12.2	8.8	4.6	2.6
Oregon	2,023	0.8	11.7	6.1	4.2	0.7
Pennsylvania	784	0.1	8.2	4.4	2.6	-0.2
Rhode Island	118	0.2	14.4	7.6	3.4	2.3
South Carolina	587	0.2	14.4	10.8	4.0	1.8
Tennessee	594	0.1	8.5	5.6	1.2	0.8
Texas	3,893	0.2	9.2	4.2	4.6	0.7
Utah	4,156	1.5	9.6	4.6	6.1	2.5
Virginia	1,087	0.2	8.3	4.7	1.0	-0.4
Washington	5,345	1.0	16.2	9.3	9.0	4.6
Wisconsin	435	0.1	5.4	5.6	0.9	1.8
Wyoming	111	0.3	1.2	3.6	-4.5	-1.5

Note: We excluded three states and Washington, DC, from this analysis because of their low Pacific Islander secondary school student population. These states are South Dakota (86 students per year on average from 2011–12 to 2017–18), Vermont (65 students), and West Virginia (62 students). Washington, DC, had 39 students per year on average. Source: U.S. Department of Education Office for Civil Rights, Civil Rights Data Collection, 2011–12, 2013–14, 2015–16, and 2017–18.

Table B6

Changes in Out-of-School Suspension Gaps in Secondary Schools Between Students With and Without Disabilities by State, 2011–12 to 2017–18

	Avg. Annual Enrollment of Students With Disabilities,	Avg. Percentage of Students With Disabilities,	Suspension Rate of Students With Disabilities (%)		Disabled–Nondisabled Suspension Gap (Percentage Points)	
State	2011-12 to 2017-18	2011-12 to 2017-18 (%)	2011-12	2017-18	2011-12	2017-18
Alabama	36,089	12.0	21.7	15.7	6.9	5.6
Alaska	5,846	12.3	16.9	15.4	9.9	9.1
Arizona	45,687	10.8	19.4	12.0	10.8	4.7
Arkansas	21,672	10.6	19.3	19.5	8.0	10.4
California	294,019	10.5	18.9	10.0	11.0	5.8
Colorado	37,326	9.8	18.9	14.6	11.2	8.3
Connecticut	31,093	12.6	16.6	12.1	11.1	7.9
Delaware	8,532	13.8	29.6	25.2	15.5	15.6
Florida	152,892	12.0	34.8	13.7	20.7	7.6
Georgia	95,338	11.2	21.1	15.7	9.3	7.4
Hawaii	9,270	11.7	20.9	13.7	20.9	7.6
Idaho	10,396	8.2	12.8	8.6	7.7	5.4
Illinois	107,756	12.4	18.5	11.4	9.9	6.8
Indiana	63,687	13.6	20.3	14.6	10.8	7.7
Iowa	27,338	12.4	15.3	12.6	9.9	8.1
Kansas	26,144	12.0	13.5	11.8	7.9	6.0
Kentucky	33,634	10.6	19.6	16.1	11.0	8.5
Louisiana	26,443	9.8	28.3	24.6	15.5	14.2
Maine	12,635	16.7	14.8	12.1	8.9	7.4
Maryland	44,490	10.7	21.8	14.3	13.5	8.5
Massachusetts	68,294	16.3	16.5	9.9	9.7	6.1
Michigan	77,164	11.4	22.8	17.2	12.6	9.4
Minnesota	53,383	13.5	16.2	11.4	11.8	7.3
Mississippi	19,797	9.9	25.5	22.1	9.7	8.2
Missouri	48,904	11.8	19.7	14.9	10.1	8.4
Montana	7,035	11.4	17.6	9.1	11.1	4.2
Nebraska	18,567	13.4	18.6	15.7	11.6	10.0
Nevada	22,837	10.3	31.5	15.7	24.1	7.7

	Avg. Annual Enrollment of Students With Disabilities,	Avg. Percentage of Students With Disabilities,	Suspension Rate of Students With Disabilities (%)		Disabled–Nondisabled Suspension Gap (Percentage Points)	
State	2011-12 to 2017-18	2011–12 to 2017–18 (%)	2011-12	2017-18	2011-12	2017-18
New Hampshire	12,261	15.0	19.7	16.1	12.0	9.5
New Jersey	91,720	15.6	15.5	10.9	8.8	5.8
New Mexico	20,813	13.5	21.3	14.9	9.0	6.9
New York	190,354	15.4	10.7	7.9	6.4	4.4
North Carolina	85,745	11.9	25.2	20.2	12.9	11.7
North Dakota	5,712	12.1	6.8	7.3	3.3	4.2
Ohio	111,060	14.4	18.8	16.7	10.3	9.9
Oklahoma	41,756	15.3	17.4	12.4	8.7	6.1
Oregon	33,540	12.6	18.3	11.6	10.7	6.8
Pennsylvania	125,193	16.2	15.2	13.6	7.7	7.6
Rhode Island	8,793	13.8	26.8	14.2	13.8	8.2
South Carolina	42,559	12.1	28.1	25.6	13.1	12.3
South Dakota	6,371	10.9	16.4	10.3	10.5	6.3
Tennessee	51,008	12.3	19.6	11.5	7.9	3.0
Texas	214,554	9.0	18.5	13.8	10.3	8.1
Utah	28,401	10.7	9.4	6.0	5.4	3.8
Vermont	4,413	14.5	18.4	12.9	12.3	9.1
Virginia	79,363	12.6	20.4	15.5	10.9	8.7
Washington	58,634	11.4	21.6	13.8	14.2	9.1
Washington, DC	4,039	17.1	37.6	24.2	15.9	11.2
West Virginia	16,677	14.0	19.2	19.2	6.5	10.5
Wisconsin	49,373	12.9	21.4	15.7	15.1	11.0
Wyoming	5,220	12.3	12.4	10.6	6.6	5.5

Source: U.S. Department of Education Office for Civil Rights, Civil Rights Data Collection, 2011–12, 2013–14, 2015–16, and 2017–18.

Endnotes

- 1. Lewis, K., & Kuhfeld, M. (2021). *Learning during COVID-19: An update on student achievement and growth at the start of the 2021–22 school year.* Center for School and Student Progress.
- 2. U.S. Department of Education Office for Civil Rights. (2021). An overview of exclusionary discipline practices in public schools for the 2017–18 school year [PowerPoint slides]. https://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/docs/crdc-exclusionary-school-discipline.pdf (accessed 03/09/22).
- 3. Losen, D. J., & Martinez, P. (2020). *Lost opportunities: How disparate school discipline continues to drive differences in the opportunity to learn*. Learning Policy Institute; Center for Civil Rights Remedies at the Civil Rights Project, UCLA.
- 4. Losen, D. J., & Martinez, P. (2020). *Lost opportunities: How disparate school discipline continues to drive differences in the opportunity to learn*. Learning Policy Institute; Center for Civil Rights Remedies at the Civil Rights Project, UCLA.
- Owens, J., & McLanahan, S. S. (2020). Unpacking the drivers of racial disparities in school suspension and expulsion. *Social Forces*, *98*(4), 1548–1577. https://doi.org/10.1093/sf/soz095; Skiba, R. J., Chung, C. G., Trachok, M., Baker, T. L., Sheya, A., & Hughes, R. L. (2014). Parsing disciplinary disproportionality: Contributions of infraction, student, and school characteristics to out-of-school suspension and expulsion. *American Educational Research Journal*, *51*(4), 640–670; Skiba, R. J., Michael, R. S., Nardo, A. C., & Peterson, R. L. (2002). The color of discipline: Sources of racial and gender disproportionality in school punishment. *Urban Review*, *34*, 317–342. http://doi.org/10.1023/A:1021320817372
- Steinberg, M. P., Allensworth, E., & Johnson, D. W. (2011). Student and teacher safety in Chicago Public Schools: The roles of community context and school social organization. Consortium on Chicago School Research. https://consortium.uchicago.edu/publications/student-and-teacher-safety-chicago-publicschools-roles-community-context-and-school (accessed 02/26/22).
- 7. Austin, G., Hanson, T., Stern, A., Zhang, G., & Cerna, R. (2020). *How are suspensions related to school climate in California middle schools?* WestEd. https://www.wested.org/resources/suspensions-and-school-climate/ (accessed 08/08/22).
- Pyne, J. (2019). Suspended attitudes: Exclusion and emotional disengagement from school. Sociology of Education, 92(1), 59–82. https://doi.org/10.1177/0038040718816684; Hirschfield, P. J. (2008). Preparing for prison? The criminalization of school discipline in the USA. Theoretical Criminology, 12(1), 79–101. https://doi.org/10.1177/1362480607085795
- 9. LiCalsi, C., Osher, D., & Bailey, P. (2021). *An empirical examination of the effects of suspension and suspension severity on behavioral and academic outcomes*. American Institutes for Research.
- Marchbanks, M. P., III, Blake, J. J., Smith, D., Seibert, A. L., Carmichael, D., Booth, E. A., & Fabelo, T. (2014). More than a drop in the bucket: The social and economic costs of dropouts and grade retentions associated with exclusionary discipline. *Journal of Applied Research on Children: Informing Policy for Children at Risk*, 5(2), 17; Carmichael, D., Booth, E. A., Plotkin, M., Thompson, M. D., Marchbanks, M. P., III, & Fabelo, T. (2011). *Breaking schools' rules: A statewide study of how school discipline relates to students' success and juvenile justice involvement*. Council of State Governments Justice Center; Public Policy Research Institute at Texas A&M University. https://csgjusticecenter.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/01/ Breaking_Schools_Rules_Report_Final.pdf (accessed 02/26/22).
- Carmichael, D., Booth, E. A., Plotkin, M., Thompson, M. D., Marchbanks, M. P., III, & Fabelo, T. (2011). Breaking schools' rules: A statewide study of how school discipline relates to students' success and juvenile justice involvement. Council of State Governments Justice Center; Public Policy Research Institute at Texas A&M University. https://csgjusticecenter.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/01/Breaking_Schools_Rules_ Report_Final.pdf (accessed 02/26/22).

- 12. Marchbanks, M. P., III, Blake, J. J., Smith, D., Seibert, A. L., Carmichael, D., Booth, E. A., & Fabelo, T. (2014). More than a drop in the bucket: The social and economic costs of dropouts and grade retentions associated with exclusionary discipline. *Journal of Applied Research on Children: Informing Policy for Children at Risk*, 5(2), 17; Lee, T., Cornell, D., Gregory, A., & Fan, X. (2011). High suspension schools and dropout rates for Black and white students. *Education and Treatment of Children*, 167–192; Carpenter, D. M., & Ramirez, A. (2007). More than one gap: Dropout rate gaps between and among Black, Hispanic, and white students. *Journal of Advanced Academics*, *19*(1), 32–64; Carmichael, D., Booth, E. A., Plotkin, M., Thompson, M. D., Marchbanks, M. P., III, & Fabelo, T. (2011). *Breaking schools' rules: A statewide study of how school discipline relates to students' success and juvenile justice involvement*. Council of State Governments Justice Center; Public Policy Research Institute at Texas A&M University. https://csgjusticecenter.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/01/Breaking_Schools_Rules_Report_Final.pdf (accessed 02/26/22); Arcia, E. (2006). Achievement and enrollment status of suspended students: Outcomes in a large, multicultural school district. *Education and Urban Society*, *38*(3), 359–69.
- 13. Rosenbaum, J. (2020). Educational and criminal justice outcomes 12 years after school suspension. *Youth & Society*, *52*(4), 515–547.
- 14. Rumberger, R. W., & Losen, D. J. (2017). *The hidden costs of California's harsh school discipline: And the localized economic benefits from suspending fewer high school students*. UCLA Center for Civil Rights Remedies at the Civil Rights Project/Proyecto Derechos Civiles; UC Santa Barbara California Dropout Research Project. http://www.schooldisciplinedata.org/ccrr/docs/CostofSuspensionReportFinal.pdf (accessed 02/23/22).
- 15. LiCalsi, C., Osher, D., & Bailey, P. (2021). *An empirical examination of the effects of suspension and suspension severity on behavioral and academic outcomes*. American Institutes for Research.
- 16. The "school-to-prison pipeline" can be defined as "the school policies and procedures that drive many of our nation's schoolchildren into a pathway that begins in school and ends in the criminal justice system." See: Anti-Defamation League. (2015). *What is the school-to-prison pipeline?* https://www.adl.org/sites/default/files/what-is-the-school-to-prison-pipeline.pdf (accessed 08/08/22).
- 17. Rosenbaum, J. (2020). Educational and criminal justice outcomes 12 years after school suspension. *Youth & Society*, *52*(4), 515–547; Kerrin, C. W., & Kupchik, A. (2017). School suspensions and adverse experiences in adulthood. *Justice Quarterly*, *34*(3), 407–430; Monahan, K. C., VanDerhei, S., Bechtold, J., & Cauffman, E. (2014). From the school yard to the squad car: School discipline, truancy, and arrest. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, *43*(7), 1110–1122; Carmichael, D., Booth, E. A., Plotkin, M., Thompson, M. D., Marchbanks, M. P., III, & Fabelo, T. (2011). *Breaking schools' rules: A statewide study of how school discipline relates to students' success and juvenile justice involvement*. Council of State Governments Justice Center; Public Policy Research Institute at Texas A&M University. https://csgjusticecenter.org/wp-content/ uploads/2020/01/Breaking_Schools_Rules_Report_Final.pdf (accessed 02/26/22).
- 18. Kupchik, A., & Catlaw, T. J. (2015). Discipline and participation: The long-term effects of suspension and school security on the political and civic engagement of youth. *Youth & Society*, *47*(1), 95–124.
- Balfanz, R., Byrnes, V., & Fox, J. (2015). "Sent Home and Put Off Track: The Antecedents, Disproportionalities, and Consequences of Being Suspended in the 9th Grade" in Losen, D. J. (Ed.). *Closing the School Discipline Gap: Equitable Remedies for Excessive Exclusion* (pp. 17–30). Teachers College Press; Rumberger, R. W., & Losen, D. J. (2017). *The hidden costs of California's harsh school discipline: And the localized economic benefits from suspending fewer high school students*. UCLA Center for Civil Rights Remedies at the Civil Rights Project/Proyecto Derechos Civiles; UC Santa Barbara California Dropout Research Project. http://www.schooldisciplinedata.org/ccrr/docs/CostofSuspensionReportFinal.pdf (accessed 02/23/22).

- Losen, D. J., Martinez, P., & Shin, G. H. R. (2021). *Disabling inequity: The urgent need for race-conscious resource remedies*. Center for Civil Rights Remedies at the Civil Rights Project, UCLA; Losen, D. J., & Martinez, P. (2020). *Lost opportunities: How disparate school discipline continues to drive differences in the opportunity to learn*. Learning Policy Institute; Center for Civil Rights Remedies at the Civil Rights Project, UCLA; Pyne, J. (2019). Suspended attitudes: Exclusion and emotional disengagement from school. *Sociology of Education*, *92*(1), 59–82. https://doi.org/10.1177/0038040718816684; Palmer, N. A., & Greytak, E. A. (2017). LGBTQ student victimization and its relationship to school discipline and justice system involvement. *Criminal Justice Review*, *42*(2), 163–187; Kupchik, A. (2016). *The Real School Safety Problem: The Long-Term Consequences of Harsh School Punishment*. University of California Press; Hines-Datiri, D. (2015). When police intervene: Race, gender, and discipline of Black male students at an urban high school. *Journal of Cases in Educational Leadership*, *18*, 122–133. https://doi.org/10.1177/1555458915584676
- 21. Pappas, L. (2018). When students of different ethnicities are suspended for the same infraction is the average length of their suspension the same? New York City Independent Budget Office. http://ibo.nyc.ny.us/iboreports/print-nycbtn-suspensions-october-2018.pdf (accessed 02/26/22).
- 22. Owens, J., & McLanahan, S. S. (2020). Unpacking the drivers of racial disparities in school suspension and expulsion. *Social Forces*, *98*(4), 1548–1577. https://doi.org/10.1093/sf/soz095
- 23. Losen, D. J., & Martinez, P. (2020). *Lost opportunities: How disparate school discipline continues to drive differences in the opportunity to learn*. Learning Policy Institute; Center for Civil Rights Remedies at the Civil Rights Project, UCLA.
- 24. Losen, D. J., & Martinez, P. (2020). Lost opportunities: How disparate school discipline continues to drive differences in the opportunity to learn. Learning Policy Institute; Center for Civil Rights Remedies at the Civil Rights Project, UCLA; Losen, D. J., Martinez, P., & Shin, G. H. R. (2021). Disabling inequity: The urgent need for race-conscious resource remedies. Center for Civil Rights Remedies at the Civil Rights Project, UCLA.
- 25. Lewis, K., & Kuhfeld, M. (2021). Learning during COVID-19: An update on student achievement and growth at the start of the 2021–22 school year. Center for School and Student Progress; American Academy of Pediatrics. (2021, October 19). AAP, AACAP, CHA declare national emergency in children's mental health. https://publications.aap.org/aapnews/news/17718#:~:text=The%20AAP%2C%20American%20 Academy%20of,on%20top%20of%20existing%20challenges (accessed 02/23/22).
- 26. Mathewson, T. G. (2022, January 20). Some kids have returned to in-person learning only to be kicked right back out. *Hechinger Report*. https://hechingerreport.org/some-kids-have-returned-to-in-person-learning-only-to-be-kicked-right-back-out (accessed 02/23/22).
- 27. U.S. Department of Education Office for Civil Rights, Civil Rights Data Collection, 2017–18 state and national estimations. https://ocrdata.ed.gov/estimations/2017-2018 (accessed 03/14/22).
- 28. Losen, D. J., & Gillespie, J. (2012). *Opportunities suspended: The disparate impact of disciplinary exclusion from school.* Center for Civil Rights Remedies at the Civil Rights Project, UCLA.
- 29. We analyzed 2011–12 data instead of 2009–10 when suspensions peaked because 2011–12 was the first year that suspension data was collected from all U.S. public schools.
- 30. Harris, A., & Leonardo, Z. (2018). Intersectionality, race–gender subordination, and education. *Review of Research in Education*, 42(1), 1–27.
- 31. Gender is another risk factor for out-of-school suspensions; males are more likely than females to be suspended. In 2017–18, 7% of males were suspended, compared to 3% of females.
- 32. U.S. Department of Education. (2010). *Free appropriate public education for students with disabilities: Requirements under Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973*. https://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ ocr/docs/edlite-FAPE504.html (accessed 09/21/21). For a full discussion of discriminatory discipline regarding students with disabilities, see Losen, D. J., Martinez, P., & Shin, G. H. R. (2021). Disabling inequity: The urgent need for race-conscious resource remedies (pp. 29–31 and corresponding footnotes). Center for Civil Rights Remedies at the Civil Rights Project, UCLA.
- 33. Individuals With Disabilities Education Act, 20 U.S.C. § 1400 (2004).

- 34. The states that prohibit out-of-school suspensions for truancy or absenteeism are Arizona, Arkansas, California, Florida, Hawaii, Illinois, Nevada, New Mexico, and North Carolina, as well as Washington, DC.
- Kelley, B., Jamieson, C., & Perez, Z., Jr. (2018). 50-state comparison: School discipline policies. Education Commission of the States. https://www.ecs.org/50-state-comparison-school-discipline-policies/ (accessed 02/03/21).
- 36. Losen, D. J., & Martinez, P. (2020). *Lost opportunities: How disparate school discipline continues to drive differences in the opportunity to learn*. Learning Policy Institute; Center for Civil Rights Remedies at the Civil Rights Project, UCLA.
- 37. Losen, D. J., & Martinez, P. (2020). *Lost opportunities: How disparate school discipline continues to drive differences in the opportunity to learn*. Learning Policy Institute; Center for Civil Rights Remedies at the Civil Rights Project, UCLA.
- 38. Massachusetts State Regulation 603 CMR 53. (2014, July1). https://www.doe.mass.edu/lawsregs/ 603cmr53.html?section=53.12 (accessed 07/09/21).
- 39. Rhode Island Department of Education. (n.d.). Discipline in schools. https://www.ride.ri.gov/ studentsfamilies/healthsafety/disciplineinschools.aspx#3569166-disparities (accessed 03/29/22).
- 40. National Center on Safe Supportive Learning Environments. (n.d.). South Carolina school discipline laws & regulations: Grounds for suspension or expulsion. https://safesupportivelearning.ed.gov/discipline-compendium?state=South%20Carolina&sub_category=Grounds%20for%20Suspension%20or%20Expulsion (accessed 03/25/22).
- 41. Because Washington, DC, only had about 67 Native American secondary school students per year from 2013–14 to 2017–18, we excluded it from our analysis of out-of-school suspension gaps between Native American and white students.
- 42. Most of the states that had an increase in Native American–white gaps have a very small population of Native American secondary school students. As such, the increases in suspension gaps observed could be due to noise in the data, which increases with smaller sample sizes. Alaska, Arkansas, and Mississippi are the three states with an average Native American student population of more than 500.
- 43. Gerety, R. M. (2017, June 15). Zero suspensions and an unexplained leap in excessive absences in Miami-Dade schools. *WUSF Public Media*. https://wusfnews.wusf.usf.edu/2017-06-15/zero-suspensions-and-an-unexplained-leap-in-excessive-absences-in-miami-dade-schools (accessed 06/07/22).
- 44. News reports from Florida have raised questions about whether suspensions were being underreported or masked as absences in some parts of the state. See Gerety, R. M. (2017, June 15). Zero suspensions and an unexplained leap in excessive absences in Miami-Dade schools. *WUSF Public Media*. https://wusfnews.wusf.usf.edu/2017-06-15/zero-suspensions-and-an-unexplained-leap-in-excessive-absences-in-miami-dade-schools (accessed 06/07/22).
- 45. Huguley, J. P., Wang, M., Pasarow, S., & Wallace, J. M., Jr. (2020). Just discipline in schools: An integrated and interdisciplinary approach. *Children & Schools*, 42(3), 195–199. https://doi.org/10.1093/cs/cdaa012; Webster, C., & Knaus, C. B. (2021). 'I don't think they like us': School suspensions as anti-black male practice. *Journal of African American Males in Education (JAAME)*, 12(1), 66–88.
- 46. Adams, A. T. (2000). The status of school discipline and violence. *ANNALS of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, *567*(1), 140–156. https://doi.org/10.1177/000271620056700110
- Madfis, E., Hirschfield, P., & Addington, L. A. (2021). School securitization and its alternatives: The social, political, and contextual drivers of school safety policy and practice. *School Psychology Review*, *50*(2–3), 191–205. https://doi.org/10.1080/2372966X.2020.1855063; Mallet, C. A. (2019). "School Discipline, Zero Tolerance Policies, and American K–12 Education" In Crews, G. A. (Ed.). *Handbook of Research on School Violence in American K–12 Education* (pp. 351–370). IGI Global.
- 48. Madfis, E., Hirschfield, P., & Addington, L. A. (2021). School securitization and its alternatives: The social, political, and contextual drivers of school safety policy and practice. *School Psychology Review*, *50*(2–3), 191–205. https://doi.org/10.1080/2372966X.2020.1855063
- 49. American Psychological Association Zero Tolerance Task Force. (2008). Are zero tolerance policies effective in the schools?: An evidentiary review and recommendations. *American Psychologist*, *63*(9), 852–862. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.63.9.852

51

- 50. Skiba, R. J. (2000). Zero tolerance, zero evidence: An analysis of school disciplinary practice. Policy research report. Indiana Education Policy Center.
- 51. Irby, D. J., & Coney, K. (2021). The 1994 Gun-Free Schools Act: Its effects 25 years later and how to undo them. *Peabody Journal of Education*, *96*(5), 494–507. https://doi.org/10.1080/0161956X.2021.1991690
- 52. Irby, D. J., & Coney, K. (2021). The 1994 Gun-Free Schools Act: Its effects 25 years later and how to undo them. *Peabody Journal of Education*, *96*(5), 494–507. https://doi.org/10.1080/0161956X.2021.1991690
- 53. Brock, M., Kriger, N., & Miró, R. (2018). *School safety policies and programs administered by the U.S. federal government: 1990–2016*. Federal Research Division, Library of Congress. https://www.ncjrs.gov/pdffiles1/nij/grants/251517.pdf (accessed 03/23/22).
- 54. Weisburst, E. (2019). Patrolling public schools: The impact of funding for school police on student discipline and long-term education outcomes. *Journal of Policy Analysis and Management*, *38*(2), 338–365. https://doi.org/10.1002/pam.22116
- 55. Fowler, D. (2011). School discipline feeds the 'pipeline to prison.' *Phi Delta Kappan*, 93(2), 14–19. https://doi.org/10.1177/003172171109300204
- 56. Heaviside, S., Rowand, C., Williams, C., & Farris, E. (1998). *Violence and discipline problems in U.S. public schools: 1996–97.* U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics.
- 57. In order to receive federal funding under the streamlined Safe and Drug-Free Schools Program and the 21st Century Learning Centers program, "States must adopt a zero-tolerance policy for violent or persistently disruptive students." Bush White House Archives. (n.d.). *Transforming the federal role in education so that no child is left behind*. https://georgewbush-whitehouse.archives.gov/news/reports/no-child-left-behind.html (accessed 03/29/22).
- 58. Amemiya, J., Mortenson, E., & Wang, M. (2020). Minor infractions are not minor: School infractions for minor misconduct may increase adolescents' defiant behavior and contribute to racial disparities in school discipline. *American Psychologist*, *75*(1), 23–36; Welch, K., & Payne, A. A. (2018). "Zero Tolerance School Policies" in Deakin, J., Taylor, E., & Kupchik, A. (Eds.). *The Palgrave International Handbook of School Discipline, Surveillance, and Social Control* (pp. 215–234). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-71559-9_11; Theriot, M. T., & Dupper, D. R. (2010). Student discipline problems and the transition from elementary to middle school. *Education and Urban Society*, *42*, 205–222; Raffaele Mendez, L. M., & Knoff, H. M. (2003). Who gets suspended from school and why: A demographic analysis of schools and disciplinary infractions in a large school district. *Education and Treatment of Children*, *26*(1), 30–51.
- 59. Skiba, R. J. (2014). The failure of zero tolerance. Reclaiming Children and Youth, 22(4), 27.
- 60. District of Columbia Office of the State Superintendent of Education. (2021). *State of discipline* 2018–19 school year. https://osse.dc.gov/sites/default/files/dc/sites/osse/page_content/attachments/ Discipline%20Report%20OSSE%202018-19%20School%20Year.pdf (accessed 02/24/22).
- 61. Hoffman, S. (2014). Zero benefit: Estimating the effect of zero tolerance discipline policies on racial disparities in school discipline. *Education Policy*, *28*(1), 69–95.
- 62. Adams, A. T. (2000). The status of school discipline and violence. *ANNALS of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, *567*(1), 140–156. https://doi.org/10.1177/000271620056700110
- Morgan, E., Salomon, N., Plotkin, J., & Cohen, R. (2014). School discipline consensus report: Strategies from the field to keep students engaged in school and out of the juvenile justice system. Council of State Governments Justice Center; Fronius, T., Darling-Hammond, S., Persson, H., Guckenburg, S., Hurley, N., & Petrosino, A. (2019). Restorative justice in U.S. schools: An updated research review. WestEd. https://www. wested.org/resources/restorative-justice-in-u-s-schools-an-updated-research-review (accessed 03/06/22).
- 64. Armour, M. (2014). Ed White Middle School restorative discipline evaluation: Implementation and impact, 2012/2013 sixth & seventh grade. The Institute for Restorative Justice and Restorative Dialogue. http:// sites.utexas.edu/irjrd/files/2016/01/Year-2-Final-EW-Report.pdf (accessed 03/07/22); Hopkins, B. (2003). Restorative justice in schools. Support for Learning, 17(3), 144–149. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9604.00254
- 65. Hulvershorn, K., & Mulholland, S. (2018). Restorative practices and the integration of social emotional learning as a path to positive school climates. *Journal of Research in Innovative Teaching & Learning*, *11*(1), 110–123. https://doi.org/10.1108/JRIT-08-2017-0015

- 66. Klevan, S. (2021). *Building a positive school climate through restorative practices*. Learning Policy Institute. https://doi.org/10.54300/178.861
- 67. Klevan, S. (2021). *Building a positive school climate through restorative practices*. Learning Policy Institute. https://doi.org/10.54300/178.861
- 68. Fronius, T., Darling-Hammond, S., Persson, H., Guckenburg, S., Hurley, N., & Petrosino, A. (2019). *Restorative justice in U.S. schools: An updated research review*. WestEd. https://www.wested.org/resources/restorative-justice-in-u-s-schools-an-updated-research-review (accessed 03/06/22).
- 69. Augustine, C. H., Engberg, J., Grimm, G. E., Lee, E., Wang, E. L., Christianson, K., & Joseph, A. A. (2018). *Can Restorative Practices Improve School Climate and Curb Suspensions? An Evaluation of the Impact of Restorative Practices in a Mid-Sized Urban School District.* RAND Corporation. https://www.rand.org/pubs/research_reports/RR2840.html (accessed 03/06/22).
- 70. Gregory, A., Clawson, K., Davis, A., & Gerewitz, J. (2016). The promise of restorative practices to transform teacher–student relationships and achieve equity in school discipline. *Journal of Educational and Psychological Consultation*, *26*(4), 325–353. https://doi.org/10.1080/10474412.2014.929950
- 71. Fronius, T., Darling-Hammond, S., Persson, H., Guckenburg, S., Hurley, N., & Petrosino, A. (2019). *Restorative justice in U.S. schools: An updated research review*. WestEd. https://www.wested.org/resources/restorative-justice-in-u-s-schools-an-updated-research-review (accessed 03/06/22).
- 72. Darling-Hammond, S. (2022). *Evaluating the effects of school-based restorative practices*. Learning Policy Institute. (Forthcoming).
- 73. Open Society Institute–Baltimore. (2020). *Restorative practices in Baltimore City Public Schools: Research updates and implementation guide*. https://www.osibaltimore.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/RP-Report-2020-FINAL.pdf (accessed 03/06/22).
- 74. Sadler, K. (2021). *No-excuses in restorative justice clothing: The effects of adopting restorative justice in a no-excuse setting.* (Ph.D. dissertation). University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill.
- 75. Guckenburg, S., Hurley, N., Persson, H., Fronius, T., & Petrosino, A. (2016). Restorative justice in U.S. schools: Practitioners' perspectives. WestEd. http://www.wested.org/resources/restorative-justice-practitionersperspectives (accessed 03/06/22); Barkley, S. (2018). Restorative justice: A 5-year examination of data for non-minority and minority students from 2011–2016. (Ph.D. dissertation). Northcentral University. https:// www.proquest.com/docview/2022437496/fulltextPDF/37CAA9BF7FAC4461PQ/1?accountid=14026 (accessed 03/07/22).
- 76. U.S. Department of Education & U.S. Department of Justice. (2014). Supportive School Discipline Initiative. https://www2.ed.gov/policy/gen/guid/school-discipline/appendix-3-overview.pdf (accessed 02/27/22).
- 77. Morgan, E., Salomon, N., Plotkin, J., & Cohen, R. (2014). *School discipline consensus report: Strategies from the field to keep students engaged in school and out of the juvenile justice system*. Council of State Governments Justice Center.
- 78. U.S. Department of Education & U.S. Department of Justice. (2014, January 8). Dear Colleague Letter on the Nondiscriminatory Administration of School Discipline. https://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/ letters/colleague-201401-title-vi.html (accessed 02/17/21).
- 79. In order to receive federal funding under the streamlined Safe and Drug-Free Schools Program and the 21st Century Learning Centers program, "States must adopt a zero-tolerance policy for violent or persistently disruptive students." Bush White House Archives. (n.d.). *Transforming the federal role in education so that no child is left behind*. https://georgewbush-whitehouse.archives.gov/news/reports/no-child-left-behind.html (accessed 03/29/22).
- 80. Cook-Harvey, C. M., Darling-Hammond, L., Lam, L., Mercer, C., & Roc, M. (2016). *Equity and ESSA: Leveraging educational opportunity through the Every Student Succeeds Act.* Learning Policy Institute.
- 81. U.S. Department of Education. (2017, January). Every Student Succeeds Act State and Local Report Cards Non-Regulatory Guidance. https://www2.ed.gov/policy/elsec/leg/essa/essastatereportcard.pdf (accessed 03/29/22).

- 82. U.S. Department of Education Office for Civil Rights & U.S. Department of Justice Civil Rights Division. (2018, December 21). Updates to Department of Education and Department of Justice Guidance on Title VI. https://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/letters/colleague-201812.pdf (accessed 01/29/21).
- 83. Cardichon, J., & Darling-Hammond, L. (2019). *Protecting students' civil rights: The federal role in school discipline*. Learning Policy Institute.
- 84. U.S. Department of Education. (2022, July 19). New guidance helps schools support students with disabilities and avoid discriminatory use of discipline [Press release]. https://www.ed.gov/news/ press-releases/new-guidance-helps-schools-support-students-disabilities-and-avoid-discriminatory-use-discipline (accessed 07/19/22).
- 85. U.S. Department of Education Office for Civil Rights. (2022, July 19). Supporting Students With Disabilities and Avoiding the Discriminatory Use of Student Discipline Under Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973. https://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/docs/504-discipline-guidance.pdf (accessed 07/19/22).
- 86. U.S. Department of Education Office of Special Education and Rehabilitative Services. (2022, July 19). Questions and Answers: Addressing the Needs of Children With Disabilities and IDEA's Discipline Provisions. https://sites.ed.gov/idea/files/qa-addressing-the-needs-of-children-with-disabilities-and-idea-disciplineprovisions.pdf (accessed 07/19/22).
- 87. U.S. Department of Education Office of Special Education and Rehabilitative Services. (2022, July 19). Positive, Proactive Approaches to Supporting Children With Disabilities: A Guide for Stakeholders. https://sites.ed.gov/idea/files/guide-positive-proactive-approaches-to-supporting-children-withdisabilities.pdf (accessed 07/19/22).
- Kelley, B., Jamieson, C., & Perez, Z., Jr. (2021). 50-state comparison: School discipline policies. Education Commission of the States. https://www.ecs.org/50-state-comparison-school-discipline-policies/ (accessed 02/27/22).
- 89. Kelley, B., Jamieson, C., & Perez, Z., Jr. (2021). *50-state comparison: School discipline policies*. Education Commission of the States. https://www.ecs.org/50-state-comparison-school-discipline-policies/ (accessed 02/27/22).
- 90. Massachusetts Department of Elementary and Secondary Education. (n.d.). Rethinking Discipline Initiative. https://www.doe.mass.edu/sfs/discipline/?section=view-all (accessed 07/27/21).
- 91. Rafa, A. (2019). *The status of school discipline in state policy*. Education Commission of the States. https://www.ecs.org/wp-content/uploads/The-Status-of-School-Discipline-in-State-Policy.pdf (accessed 01/27/22).
- 92. Rafa, A. (2019). *The status of school discipline in state policy*. Education Commission of the States. https://www.ecs.org/wp-content/uploads/The-Status-of-School-Discipline-in-State-Policy.pdf (accessed 01/27/22).
- 93. Martinez, P. (2018). "The Freedom to Learn: Dismantling the School-to-Prison Pipeline in the Southwest" in Warren, M. R. (Ed.). *Lift Us Up, Don't Push Us Out!* (pp. 36–44). Beacon Press.
- 94. González, T. (2015). "Socializing Schools: Addressing Racial Disparities in Discipline Through Restorative Justice" in Losen, D. J. (Ed.). *Closing the Discipline Gap: Equitable Remedies for Excessive Exclusion* (pp. 151–165). Teachers College Press.
- 95. Jain, S., Bassey, H., Brown, M. A., & Kalra, P. (2014). Restorative justice in Oakland Schools. Implementation and impact: An effective strategy to reduce racially disproportionate discipline, suspensions, and improve academic outcomes. Oakland Unified School District. https://www.ousd.org/cms/lib07/CA01001176/ Centricity/Domain/134/OUSD-RJ%20Report%20revised%20Final.pdf (accessed 02/27/22).

- 96. Anderson, K. P., & Ritter, G. W. (2020). Do school discipline policies treat students fairly? Evidence from Arkansas. *Educational Policy*, *34*(5), 707–734. http://doi.org/10.1177/0895904818802085; Owens, A., & Candipan, J. (2019). Social and spatial inequalities of educational opportunity: A portrait of schools serving high- and low-income neighbourhoods in US metropolitan areas. *Urban Studies*, *56*(15), 3178–3197. https://doi.org/10.1177/0042098018815049; Skiba, R. J., Chung, C. G., Trachok, M., Baker, T. L., Sheya, A., & Hughes, R. L. (2014). Parsing disciplinary disproportionality: Contributions of infraction, student, and school characteristics to out-of-school suspension and expulsion. *American Educational Research Journal*, *51*, 640–670. http://doi.org/10.3102/0002831214541670; Anyon, Y., Jenson, J. M., Altschul, I., Farrar, J., McQueen, J., Greer, E., Downing, B., & Simmons, J. (2014). The persistent effect of race and the promise of alternatives to suspension in school discipline outcomes. *Children and Youth Services Review*, *44*, 379–386. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2014.06.025; Carmichael, D., Booth, E. A., Plotkin, M., Thompson, M. D., Marchbanks, M. P., III, & Fabelo, T. (2011). *Breaking schools' rules: A statewide study of how school discipline relates to students' success and juvenile justice involvement*. Council of State Governments Justice Center; Public Policy Research Institute at Texas A&M University. https://csgjusticecenter.org/ wp-content/uploads/2020/01/Breaking_Schools_Rules_Report_Final.pdf (accessed 02/26/22).
- 97. Gilliam, W. S., Maupin, A. N., Reyes, C. R., Accavitti, M., & Shic, F. (2016). *Do early educators' implicit biases regarding sex and race relate to behavior expectations and recommendations of preschool expulsions and suspensions?* Yale University Child Study Center. https://marylandfamiliesengage.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/Preschool-Implicit-Bias-Policy-Brief.pdf (accessed 02/28/22).
- Girvan, E. J., Gion, C., McIntosh, K., & Smolkowski, K. (2017). The relative contribution of subjective office referrals to racial disproportionality in school discipline. *School Psychology Quarterly*, *32*(3), 392–404. https://doi.org/10.1037/spq0000178
- 99. Gilliam, W. S., Maupin, A. N., Reyes, C. R., Accavitti, M., & Shic, F. (2016). *Do early educators' implicit biases regarding sex and race relate to behavior expectations and recommendations of preschool expulsions and suspensions?* Yale University Child Study Center. https://marylandfamiliesengage.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/Preschool-Implicit-Bias-Policy-Brief.pdf (accessed 02/28/22).
- 100. Turner, C. (2016, September 8). Bias isn't just a police problem, it's a preschool problem. *NPR*. https://www.npr.org/sections/ed/2016/09/28/495488716/bias-isnt-just-a-police-problem-its-a-preschool-problem (accessed 05/15/22).
- 101. Okonofua, J. A., & Eberhardt, J. L. (2015). Two strikes: Race and the disciplining of young students. *Psychological Science*, *26*, 617–624. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F0956797615570365
- 102. Williams, J. L., Pazey, B., Shelby, L., & Yates, J. R. (2013). The enemy among us: Do school administrators perceive students with disabilities as a threat? *NASSP Bulletin*, *92*(2), 139–165; Cook, B. G., Cameron, D. L., & Tankersley, M. (2007). Inclusive teachers' attitudinal ratings of their students with disabilities. *Journal of Special Education*, *40*, 230–238.
- 103. Okonofua, J. A., Paunesku, D., & Walton, G. M. (2016). Brief intervention to encourage empathic discipline cuts suspension rates in half among adolescents. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 113(19). http://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1523698113
- 104. Benz, C., Clark, M., Johnson, C., Jones, K., Kim, C., Lieberman, L., Maxwell, C., Netter, T. M., Moyer-Washington, T., Pugliese, D., Sago, I., & Vizurrage, N. (2018). *Voices from the classroom: A survey of America's educators*. Educators for Excellence. https://e4e.org/sites/default/files/2018_voices_from_the_ classroom_teacher_survey.pdf (accessed 05/05/22).
- 105. Skiba, R. J. (2000). Zero tolerance, zero evidence: An analysis of school disciplinary practice. Policy research report. Indiana Education Policy Center.
- 106. Henry, K. K., Catagnus, R. M., Griffith, A. K., & Garcia, Y. A. (2021). Ending the school-to-prison pipeline: Perception and experience with zero-tolerance policies and interventions to address racial inequality. *Behavior Analysis in Practice*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40617-021-00634-z
- 107. Helibrun, A., Cornell, D., & Konold, T. (2018). Authoritative school climate and suspension rates in middle schools: Implications for reducing the racial disparity in school discipline. *Journal of School Violence*, *52*(5), 489–499. https://doi.org/10.1080/15388220.2017.1368395; Huang, F. L., & Cornell, D. G. (2017). Student attitudes and behaviors as explanations for the Black–white suspension gap. *Children and Youth Services Review*, *73*, 298–308. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2017.01.002

- 108. Jennings, P. A., & Frank, J. L. (2015). "Inservice preparation for educators" in Durlak, J. A., Domintrovich, C. E., Weissberg, R. P., & Gullotta, T. P. (Eds.) *Handbook of social and emotional learning: Research and practice* (pp. 422–437). Guilford Press.
- 109. Gregory, A., & Weinstein, R. S. (2008). The discipline gap and African Americans: Defiance or cooperation in the high school classroom. *Journal of School Psychology*, *46*(4), 455–75. http://doi.org/10.1016/ j.jsp.2007.09.001; Skiba, R. J., Chung, C. G., Trachok, M., Baker, T. L., Sheya, A., & Hughes, R. L. (2014). Parsing disciplinary disproportionality: Contributions of infraction, student, and school characteristics to out-of-school suspension and expulsion. *American Educational Research Journal*, *51*, 640–670. http://doi.org/10.3102/0002831214541670
- 110. Losen, D. J., Martinez, P., & Shin, G. H. R. (2021). *Disabling inequity: The urgent need for race-conscious resource remedies*. Center for Civil Rights Remedies at the Civil Rights Project, UCLA; Ondrasek, N., Carver-Thomas, D., Scott, C., & Darling-Hammond, L. (2020). *California's special education teacher shortage*. Policy Analysis for California Education; Learning Policy Institute; Sullivan, A. L., Van Norman, E. R., & Klingbeil, D. A. (2014). Exclusionary discipline of students with disabilities: Student and school characteristics predicting suspension. *Remedial and Special Education, 35*(4), 199–210; Krezmien, M. P., Leone, P. E., & Achilles, G. M. (2006). Suspension, race, and disability: Analysis of statewide practices and reporting. *Journal of Emotional and Behavioral Disorders, 14*(4), 217–226.
- 111. Cardichon, J., Darling-Hammond, L., Yang, M., Scott, C., Shields, P. M., & Burns, D. (2020). *Inequitable opportunity to learn: Student access to certified and experienced teachers*. Learning Policy Institute; Ondrasek, N., Carver-Thomas, D., Scott, C., & Darling-Hammond, L. (2020). *California's special education teacher shortage*. Learning Policy Institute; Policy Analysis for California Education. https://learningpolicyinstitute.org/sites/default/files/product-files/PACE_Special_Education_Teacher_Shortage_REPORT.pdf (accessed 03/29/22).
- 112. Ondrasek, N., Carver-Thomas, D., Scott, C., & Darling-Hammond, L. (2020). *California's special education teacher shortage*. Policy Analysis for California Education; Learning Policy Institute.
- 113. Sabastian, J., & Allensworth, E. (2012). The influence of principal leadership on classroom instruction and student learning: A study of mediated pathways to learning. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, *48*(4), 626–663.
- 114. DeMatthews, D. E., Carey, R. L., Olivarez, A., & Moussavi Saeedi, K. M. (2017). Guilty as charged? Principals' perspectives on disciplinary practices and the racial discipline gap. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 53(4), 519–555. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013161X17714844.
- 115. Skiba, R. J., Chung, C. G., Trachok, M., Baker, T. L., Sheya, A., & Hughes, R. L. (2014). Parsing disciplinary disproportionality: Contributions of infraction, student, and school characteristics to out-of-school suspension and expulsion. *American Educational Research Journal*, 51, 640–670. http:// doi.org/10.3102/0002831214541670
- 116. Huang, F. L., & Cornell, D. G. (2021). Teacher support for zero tolerance is associated with higher suspension rates and lower feelings of safety. *School Psychology Review*, 5(2–3), 388–405. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/2372966X.2020.1832865
- 117. Guckenburg, S., Hurley, N., Persson, H., Fronius, T., & Petrosino, A. (2016). *Restorative justice in U.S. schools: Practitioners' perspectives*. WestEd. https://www.wested.org/resources/restorative-justice-practitioners-perspectives/# (accessed 02/28/22).
- 118. Darling-Hammond, L., Wechsler, M. E., Levin, S., Leung-Gagné, M., & Tozer, S. (2022). *Developing effective principals: What kind of learning matters?* Learning Policy Institute.
- 119. Warikoo, N., Sinclair, S., Fei, J., & Jacoby-Senghor, D. (2016). Examining racial bias in education: A new approach. *Educational Researcher*, 45(9), 508–514. https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X16683408; Cameron, C. D., Brown-Iannuzzi, J. L., & Payne, B. K. (2012). Sequential priming measures of implicit social cognition: A meta-analysis of associations with behavior and explicit attitudes. *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, 4, 330–350.

- 120. Levin, S., Scott, C., Yang, M., Leung, M., & Bradley, K. (2020). Supporting a strong, stable principal workforce: What matters and what can be done. Learning Policy Institute. https://learningpolicyinstitute.org/product/ supporting-strong-stable-principal-workforce-report (accessed 02/28/22); DeMatthews, D. E., Cary, R. L., Olivarez, A., & Saeedi, K. M. (2017). Guilty as charged? Principals' perspectives on disciplinary practices and the racial discipline gap. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, *53*(4), 519–555. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0013161X17714844.
- 121. Baker, B. D. (2018). *How money matters for schools*. Learning Policy Institute. https://learningpolicyinstitute.org/product/how-money-matters-brief (accessed 02/28/22).
- 122. Lapan, T., Whitcomb, S. A., & Aleman, N. M. (2012). Professional school counselors: College and career counseling services and smaller ratios benefit students. *Professional School Counseling*, *16*(2), 117–124. https://www.jstor.org/stable/10.2307/profschocoun.16.2.117 (accessed 02/28/22).
- 123. Morgan, I., & Amerikaner, A. (2018). *Funding gaps 2018*. Education Trust. https://s3-us-east-2.amazonaws. com/edtrustmain/wp-content/uploads/2014/09/20180601/Funding-Gaps-2018-Report-UPDATED.pdf (accessed 02/28/22).
- 124. Owens, A., & Candipan, J. (2019). Social and spatial inequalities of educational opportunity: A portrait of schools serving high- and low-income neighbourhoods in US metropolitan areas. *Urban Studies*, 56(15), 3178–3197. https://doi.org/10.1177/0042098018815049
- 125. California Senate Bill No. 419 (2019, September 9). https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient. xhtml?bill_id=201920200SB419 (accessed 07/06/21).
- 126. Armour, M. (2014). Ed White Middle School restorative discipline evaluation: Implementation and impact, 2012/2013 sixth & seventh grade. The Institute for Restorative Justice and Restorative Dialogue. http:// sites.utexas.edu/irjrd/files/2016/01/Year-2-Final-EW-Report.pdf (accessed 03/07/22); Hopkins, B. (2003). Restorative justice in schools. Support for Learning, 17(3), 144–149. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9604.00254
- 127. Hulvershorn, K., & Mulholland, S. (2018). Restorative practices and the integration of social emotional learning as a path to positive school climates. *Journal of Research in Innovative Teaching & Learning*, *11*(1), 110–123. https://doi.org/10.1108/JRIT-08-2017-0015
- 128. Morgan, E., Salomon, N., Plotkin, J., & Cohen, R. (2014). School discipline consensus report: Strategies from the field to keep students engaged in school and out of the juvenile justice system. Council of State Governments Justice Center; Fronius, T., Darling-Hammond, S., Persson, H., Guckenburg, S., Hurley, N., & Petrosino, A. (2019). Restorative justice in U.S. schools: An updated research review. WestEd. https://www.wested.org/resources/restorative-justice-in-u-s-schools-an-updated-research-review (accessed 03/06/22).
- 129. Kostyo, S., Cardichon, J., & Darling-Hammond, L. (2018). *Making ESSA's equity promise real: State strategies to close the opportunity gap*. Learning Policy Institute. https://learningpolicyinstitute.org/sites/ default/files/product-files/ESSA_Equity_Promise_REPORT.pdf (accessed 05/05/22).
- 130. Massachusetts Department of Elementary and Secondary Education. (n.d.). Rethinking Discipline Initiative. https://www.doe.mass.edu/sfs/discipline/?section=view-all (accessed 07/27/21).
- 131. Rafa, A. (2019). *The status of school discipline in state policy*. Education Commission of the States. https://www.ecs.org/wp-content/uploads/The-Status-of-School-Discipline-in-State-Policy.pdf (accessed 01/27/22).
- 132. Gregory, A., Clawson, K., Davis, A., & Gerewitz, J. (2015). The promise of restorative practices to transform teacher–student relationships and achieve equity in school discipline. *Journal of Educational and Psychological Consultation*, *25*, 1–29. https://doi.org/10.1080/10474412.2014.929950
- 133. Darling-Hammond, L., Flook, L., Cook-Harvey, C., Barron, B., & Osher, D. (2020). Implications for educational practice of the science of learning and development. *Applied Developmental Science*, 24(2), 97–140.
- 134. Lapan, T., Whitcomb, S. A., & Aleman, N. M. (2012). Professional school counselors: College and career counseling services and smaller ratios benefit students. *Professional School Counseling*, *16*(2), 117–124. https://www.jstor.org/stable/10.2307/profschocoun.16.2.117 (accessed 02/28/22).

- 135. American Academy of Pediatrics. (2021, October 19). AAP, AACAP, CHA declare national emergency in children's mental health. https://publications.aap.org/aapnews/news/17718#:~:text=The%20AAP%2C%20 American%20Academy%20of,on%20top%20of%20existing%20challenges (accessed 02/23/22).
- 136. U.S. Department of Homeland Security. (2021, August 24). Mitigating the threat of school violence as the U.S. "returns to normal" from the COVID-pandemic and beyond. https://www.dhs.gov/publication/mitigating-threat-school-violence-us-returns-normal-covid-pandemic-and-beyond (accessed 02/23/22).
- 137. Treglia, D., Cutuli, J. J., Arasteh, K., J. Bridgeland, J. M., Edson, G., Phillips, S., & Balakrishna, A. (2021). *Hidden pain: Children who lost a parent or caregiver to COVID-19 and what the nation can do to help them.* COVID Collaborative; Social Policy Analytics. https://www.covidcollaborative.us/assets/uploads/img/ HIDDEN-PAIN-FINAL.pdf (accessed 02/23/22).
- 138. CRRSAA Section 313(d)(1) Public Law No: 116–260 and American Rescue Plan Act Section 2001(e)(2) Public Law No: 117–2 (2020).
- 139. CRRSAA Section 313(e) Public Law No: 116–260 and American Rescue Plan Act Section 2001(f)(–) Public Law No: 117–2 (2020).
- 140. Klevan, S. (2021). *Building a positive school climate through restorative practices*. Learning Policy Institute. https://doi.org/10.54300/178.861; Frey, S. (2015, May 14). Oakland ends suspensions for willful defiance, funds restorative justice. *EdSource*.
- 141. Lacoe, J., & Steinberg, M. P. (2019). Do suspensions affect student outcomes? *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, *41*(1), 34–62; Hwang, N. (2018). Suspensions and achievement: Varying links by type, frequency, and subgroup. *Educational Researcher*, *47*(6), 363–374; Arcia, E. (2006). Achievement and enrollment status of suspended students: Outcomes in a large, multicultural school district. *Education and Urban Society*, *38*(3), 359–69; Marchbanks, M. P., III, Blake, J. J., Smith, D., Seibert, A. L., Carmichael, D., Booth, E. A., & Fabelo, T. (2014). More than a drop in the bucket: The social and economic costs of dropouts and grade retentions associated with exclusionary discipline. *Journal of Applied Research on Children: Informing Policy for Children at Risk*, *5*(2), 17; Lee, T., Cornell, D., Gregory, A., & Fan, X. (2011). High suspension schools and dropout rates for Black and white students. *Education and Treatment of Children*, 167–192; Carpenter, D. M., & Ramirez, A. (2007). More than one gap: Dropout rate gaps between and among Black, Hispanic, and white students. *Journal of Advanced Academics*, *19*(1), 32–64; Rosenbaum, J. (2020). Educational and criminal justice outcomes 12 years after school suspension. *Youth & Society*, *52*(4), 515–547.
- 142. U.S. Department of Education Office for Civil Rights, Civil Rights Data Collection. State and national estimations, 2000, 2004, 2006, and 2010; Losen, D. J., & Martinez, P. (2020). Lost opportunities: How disparate school discipline continues to drive differences in the opportunity to learn. Learning Policy Institute; Center for Civil Rights Remedies at the Civil Rights Project, UCLA; Verdugo, R. R. (2002). Race-ethnicity, social class, and zero-tolerance policies: The cultural and structural wars. Education and Urban Society, 35(1), 50–55; Losen, D. J., & Gillespie, J. (2012). Opportunities suspended: The disparate impact of disciplinary exclusion from school. Center for Civil Rights Remedies at the Civil Rights Project, UCLA.
- 143. Losen, D. J., & Martinez, P. (2020). *Lost opportunities: How disparate school discipline continues to drive differences in the opportunity to learn*. Learning Policy Institute; Center for Civil Rights Remedies at the Civil Rights Project, UCLA.

About the Authors

Melanie Leung-Gagné is a Research and Policy Associate at the Learning Policy Institute (LPI), where she is a member of the Educator Quality team and the Equitable Resources and Access team. She is the author of *Inequitable Opportunity to Learn: Access to Advanced Mathematics and Science Courses* and co-author of *Supporting a Strong, Stable Principal Workforce: What Matters and What Can Be Done*. Prior to joining LPI, she conducted research on educating boys and the role of philanthropy in education and participated in mixed-methods research and workshops to boost student engagement. She was also a reporter covering youth and education issues in Hong Kong and worked as an elementary school teacher in a school serving migrant workers' children in mainland China.

Jennifer McCombs is Director of Research at the Learning Policy Institute. In this role, she oversees LPI's research teams and manages and mentors research and project staff, providing direction and ensuring the rigor and quality of all work. Prior to joining LPI, McCombs worked for 25 years at the RAND Corporation, most recently as the Director of the Behavioral and Policy Sciences department. Her research focuses on understanding whether and how policies and programs create equitable outcomes for children and youth. She enjoys working with policymakers and practitioners to support the implementation of research-based practice. Over the course of her career, she has studied expanded learning opportunities, teacher education and professional development, school improvement, and accountability policies. McCombs is a frequent advisor on summer and afterschool programs. She served as a member of the National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine's Committee on Summertime Experiences and is a member of the National Center on Afterschool and Summer Enrichment Technical Work Group and the National Summer Learning Association Research Advisory Committee.

Caitlin Scott formerly served as the Research Director for LPI. For the past two decades, her publications have focused on educator learning and change, as well as on improving educational systems at all levels, especially for students traditionally underserved by public schools. Her support for research teams is informed by a deep knowledge of quantitative, qualitative, and mixed research methods and by her commitment to ongoing learning. Prior to her time with LPI, she was a consultant at the Center on Education Policy and a research manager at Education Northwest. Her policy-related research includes a 5-year multistate study of school restructuring under the No Child Left Behind Act, a national survey of rural principals implementing federal School Improvement Grants, and a 6-year evaluation of the national Center on School Turnaround. She is currently a director at Marzano Research.

Daniel J. Losen is Director of the Center for Civil Rights Remedies, an initiative of the UCLA Civil Rights Project/Proyecto Derechos Civiles. He has worked at the Civil Rights Project since 1999, when it was affiliated with Harvard Law School, where he was a lecturer on law. Losen's work concerns the impact of law and policy on children of color, including the reauthorization of the Elementary and Secondary Education Act, with a focus on promoting diversity, access to effective teachers, and improving graduation rate accountability; the Individuals With Disabilities Education Act and racial inequity in special education; school discipline and revealing and redressing the "school-to-prison pipeline"; and protecting English learners' right to equal educational opportunity. On these and related topics, Losen conducts law and policy research; has published books, reports, and articles; and works closely with federal and state legislators to inform legislative initiatives. Both for the

59

Civil Rights Project and independently, he provides guidance to policymakers and educators and advocates at the state and district levels. Before becoming a lawyer, Losen taught in public schools for 10 years and was a founder of an alternative public school. Recent publications by Losen include *Disabling Inequity: The Urgent Need for Race-Conscious Resource Remedies* and *Lost Opportunities: How Disparate School Discipline Continues to Drive Differences in the Opportunity to Learn*, which include corresponding spreadsheets with school discipline data on every district in the nation.



1530 Page Mill Road, Suite 250 Palo Alto, CA 94304 p: 650.332.9797

1100 17th Street, NW, Suite 200 Washington, DC 20036 p: 202.830.0079 @LPI_Learning | learningpolicyinstitute.org

The Learning Policy Institute conducts and communicates independent, high-quality research to improve education policy and practice. Working with policymakers, researchers, educators, community groups, and others, the Institute seeks to advance evidence-based policies that support empowering and equitable learning for each and every child. Nonprofit and nonpartisan, the Institute connects policymakers and stakeholders at the local, state, and federal levels with the evidence, ideas, and actions needed to strengthen the education system from preschool through college and career readiness.